


  
 
 
 
                                                                 
 
 
 

AGENDA  
 

Board Governance Committee Meeting  
 

Tuesday, January 20, 2026 
 

 Committee Members: Mayor Paul A. Koomar, Chair 
  Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 
  Deidre McPherson 
  Jeffrey Sleasman  
  Mayor David Weiss  
 

I. Roll Call 
 

II. Review Committee Assignments 
 
III. Discussion of Future Governance Topics 
 
IV. New Business 

 
V. Adjourn 

 



 
 

OFFICERS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

Mayor Paul A. Koomar 
President 

 
Emily Garr Pacetti 

Vice President 

*Vice President will be Vice Chair for all standing committees.          Effective 11/13/2025 

                                                                 
BOARD GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (5) OPERATIONAL PLANNING & 

INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE (5)
  

Paul A. Koomar, Chair      Jeffrey W. Sleasman, Chair 
Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair     Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 
Deidre McPherson       Marie Gallo 
Jeffrey W. Sleasman       Stephen M. Love 
David E. Weiss       Vacant 
 
ORGANIZATIONAL, SERVICES & PERFORMANCE AUDIT, SAFETY COMPLIANCE & 
MONITORING COMMITTEE (5) REAL ESTATE COMMITTEE (5) 
  
Emily Garr Pacetti, Chair      David E. Weiss, Chair 
Marie Gallo        Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 
Deidre McPherson       Anastasia A. Elder 
Jeffrey W. Sleasman       Jeffrey W. Sleasman 
Vacant         Shanelle Smith Whigham  
           
EXTERNAL & STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (10) 
& ADVOCACY COMMITTEE (5)  
 
Deidre McPherson, Chair      Paul A. Koomar, Chair 
Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair     Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 
Anastasia A. Elder       Anastasia A. Elder 
Stephen M. Love       Marie Gallo 
Shanelle Smith Whigham      Stephen M. Love 

Deidre McPherson 
         Jeffrey W. Sleasman 
         David E. Weiss 

Shanelle Smith Whigham 
         Vacant 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

CIVILIAN OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE (COC) 
 

Marie Gallo, Board Liaison 
 

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE (CAC) 
 

Anastasia A. Elder, Board Liaison 
 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 
 

David E. Weiss, Chair 
Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 

Anastasia A. Elder 
Vacant 

 
AD-HOC COMMITTEES 

 
AD-HOC COC SELECTION COMMITTEE 

 
Marie Gallo, Chair 
Stephen M. Love 

Vacant 
 

AD-HOC NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
 

Stephen M. Love, Chair 
Emily Garr Pacetti 
Anastasia A. Elder 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
STANDING COMMITTEE MEMBERS, STAFF LIAISONS AND SUPPORT 

 
 
AUDIT, SAFETY COMPLIANCE & REAL ESTATE COMMITTEE 
(Chair: Weiss |Vice Chair: Pacetti | Elder, Sleasman, Whigham) 
Primary Staff Liaison – Rajan Gautam and Tony Garofoli | Secondary Staff Liaison: Janet Burney 
 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
(Chair: Koomar | Vice Chair: Pacetti | Board Members) 
Primary Staff Liaison – India Birdsong Terry 
 
EXTERNAL & STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS & ADVOCACY COMMITTEE  
(Chair: McPherson | Vice Chair: Pacetti | Elder, Love, Whigham) 
Primary Staff Liaison – Natoya Walker-Minor | Secondary Staff Liaison: Mike Schipper 
 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
(Chair: Koomar | Vice Chair: Pacetti | (Sleasman, McPherson, Weiss) 
Primary Staff Liaison – India Birdsong Terry | Secondary Staff Liaison: Janet Burney 
 
OPERATIONAL PLANNING & INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE 
(Chair: Sleasman | Vice Chair: Pacetti | Gallo, Love) 
Primary Staff Liaison – Mike Schipper | Secondary Staff Liaison: Rajan D. Gautam 
 
ORGANIZATIONAL, SERVICES & PERFORMANCE MONITORING COMMITTEE  
(Chair: Pacetti | Vice Chair: Vacant | Gallo, McPherson, Sleasman) 
Primary Staff Liaison – Floun’say Caver | Secondary Staff Liaison: Rajan Gautam and George Fields 



                                                                 
 

AGENDA 
 

Committee of the Whole 
Tuesday, January 20, 2026 

 
Committee Members: Mayor Paul A. Koomar, Chair  
 Ms. Emily Garr Pacetti, Vice Chair 
 Ms. Anastasia A. Elder 
 Mayor Marie Gallo 
 Mr. Stephen M. Love  
 Ms. Deidre Y. McPherson 
 Mr. Jeffrey W. Sleasman 
 Mayor David E. Weiss 
 Ms. Shanelle Smith Whigham 

 
I. Roll Call 

 
II. Approval of Minutes – December 2, 2025 

 
III. West 25th Street BRT Update 

 
Presenter: 

• Michael Schipper, Deputy General Manager, Engineering & Project 
Management 

• Calley Mersmann, Director, City of Cleveland Planning Commission 
 
IV. Adjourn 



 

 
 

 
Committee of the Whole 

 
December 2, 2025 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
Committee Members: Mayor Koomar (Chair), Ms. Pacetti (Vice Chair), Ms. Elder, 

Mayor Gallo, Mr. Love, Ms. McPherson, Mr. Sleasman, Mayor 
Weiss, Ms. Smith Whigham 
 

Staff/Other: Shawn Becker, Nick Biggar, India Birdsong Terry, Felicia 
Brooks-Williams, Janet Burney, Floun’say Caver, Brent 
Charnigo, Jonathan Ciesla, Nick Davidson, Nadine DeJesus, 
Wendy Feinn, Michael Fesler, George Fields, Bob Fleig, Joel 
Freilich, Catherine Galla, Anthony Garofoli, Rajan Gautam, 
Fiona Gibbons, Chief Deirdre Jones, Lawrence Jupina, Carl 
Kirkland, Jeff Macko, Ida Marshall, Sheila Miller, Joshua 
Miranda, Charles Morgan, Ruben Morgan, Mike Schipper, 
Michael So, John Sulik, Kay Sutula, Wendy Talley, John Togher, 
Eric Vukmanic 
 

Public: Ehren Bingaman, Tracie Collins, Travis Ducuruen, Kesley 
Finucan, Alex Johnson, Mustafa Shaikhan, Carren Woods 

 
New Board Trustee Shanelle Smith Whigham was administered the oath of office. 
 

I. Roll Call 
 
Mayor Koomar called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. with roll call.  A quorum was present. 
 

II. Approval of Minutes – November 18, 2025 
 
Ms. Pacetti moved, and Ms. Elder seconded to approve the minutes; the motion carried. 
 
III. Reappointment of Eight Members to the Community Advisory Committee 
 
Natoya Walker Minor, Deputy General Manager, Administration & External Affairs, stated that the 
Community Advisory Committee (CAC) assists the GCRTA in fulfilling its mission, supporting service 
for individuals with disabilities, and advocating for public transit in Northeast Ohio.  
 
The terms for eight (8) of the eleven (11) current CAC members were set to expire on December 31, 
2025, and all were seeking reappointment for a two (2) year term running through December 2027.  
 
Management emphasized the importance of continuity, as the committee was recently repurposed, 
but noted that there is no fixed limit to the number of members, allowing for additional qualified 
applicants to be onboarded in the interim. The resolution to move the reappointments forward to the 
full Board of Trustees for a vote was approved. 
 
Ms. McPherson moved, and Mr. Love seconded to send the reappointments to the Board of Trustees; 
the motion carried. 
 



Committee of the Whole 
December 2, 2025 
Page 2 of 3 
 
IV. Code Book Update – Amending Bylaws Article VII, Section 5 

 
V. Code Book Update – Amending Section 220.03 Standing Committee Structure and 

Responsibilities 
 
VI. Code Book Update – Amending Chapter 460 Financial Policies; Funds  
 
VII. Code Book Update – Repealing Section 620.04 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Policy 
 

VIII. Code Book Update – Amending Section 642.01 Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action 
 
IX. Code Book Update – Amending Chapter 842 Comprehensive Fare Policy 
 
X. Code Book Update – Amending Chapter 1013 Service Standards 

 
XI. Code Book Update – Amending Chapter 1086 Paratransit and Accessible Service Policy 
 
Anna Hlavacs, Senior Counsel, presented items 4 through 11, which covered updates to GCRTA's 
codified rules and regulations to align policies with current operations, Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) directives, and executive orders. 
 
Key proposed changes to financial policies (Chapter 460) included designating a 15-day ending 
balance for the Revenue Stabilization Fund, creating a sub-account within the Reserve Fund for 
transit-oriented development, and removing a requirement to evaluate the supplemental pension fund 
every two years. The latter removal was due to the Supplemental Pension Fund having more than 
adequate reserves to meet the needs of the remaining seven CTS retirees it supports. Changes were 
also proposed to remove duplicative or obsolete language in Chapter 842 and Chapter 1013 (service 
standards) to consolidate paratransit language in the dedicated Chapter 1086. Chapter 1086 was also 
updated to remove outdated aspirational language regarding ADA compliance and clarify service 
language. 
 
Ms. Hlavacs presented changes to bring the code book into compliance with executive orders from 
the Trump administration starting in 2025. These changes included removing the requirement for 
contractors to submit affirmative action plans, removing the Board's organizational services and 
Performance Monitoring Committee's responsibility to review affirmative action, and revising language 
to state RTA will review its own workforce rather than contractors for Equal Employment Opportunity.  
 
Staff clarified that removing the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) policy was a proactive legal 
action to remove language that could jeopardize federal grant eligibility during an FTA review, and 
ensuring GCRTA's compliance with executive orders. Staff stressed that the Authority's commitment 
to civil rights, non-discrimination and internal OEO practices remains fully intact and is monitored 
internally. 
 
Mr. Sleasman questioned a proposed language in Chapter 460.02, which would change the long-
standing but unachievable 25% operating ratio requirement to a goal to "strive towards" 25%. 
Management noted that the current operating ratio is closer to 10-15%.  
 
The Board agreed to leave the original wording of the operating ratio goal in place and defer the 
discussion on setting a new, realistic percentage to a future meeting. The rest of the proposed code 
revisions were then moved to the full board for approval. 
 
Mr. Sleasman moved, and Ms. Elder seconded to advance the code book updates to the Board of 
Trustees; the motion carried. 



Committee of the Whole 
December 2, 2025 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
XII. Adjournment 
 
There being no further business to bring before the Committee, Mayor Koomar moved to adjourn the 
meeting and seconded by Ms. Elder.  The meeting was adjourned at 9:51 a.m. 
 
 
___________________________________   ________________________________ 
Rajan D. Gautam      Brent Charnigo 
Secretary/Treasurer      Board Administrator 



                                                                 
AGENDA 

 
GCRTA Board of Trustees Meeting 

Tuesday, January 20, 2026 
 

9:00 a.m. 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Roll Call 
 
III. Certification Regarding Notice of Meeting 

 
IV. Approval of Minutes  

a. December 16, 2025, Board Meeting 
 

V. Public Comment (2 minutes) on Agenda and Non-Agenda items: 
 
Please state your name and city of residence 

a. In-Person  
b. Phone: 440-276-4600 
c. Web Form (1-Comment Limit) Comments will be Forwarded to Board and 

Staff 
 

VI. Board Governance Committee Report 
• Mayor Paul Koomar, President 
• Affidavit for Board Trustee Shanelle Smith Whigham 

 
VII. Operational Planning & Infrastructure Committee Report 

• Chair: Mr. Jeffrey Sleasman 
 
VIII. Organizational, Services & Performance Monitoring Committee Report 

• Chair: Ms. Emily Pacetti 
 
IX. Audit, Safety Compliance and Real Estate Committee Report  

• Chair: Mayor David E. Weiss 
 

X. External & Stakeholder Relations & Advocacy Committee Report 
• Chair: Ms. Deidre McPherson 

 
XI. Committee of the Whole 

• Chair: Mayor Paul Koomar 
 

XII. Civilian Oversight Committee (COC) 
• Board Liaison: Mayor Marie Gallo 
 

XIII. Community Advisory Committee (CAC) 
• Board Liaison: Ms. Anastasia Elder 

 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
January 20, 2026 
Page 2 
 

XIV. Ad-Hoc Committee reports 
a. Ad-Hoc Compensation Committee   

• Chair: Mayor David Weiss 
b. Ad-Hoc Nominating  

• Chair: Mr. Stephen M. Love 
 

XV. Introduction of New Employees and Announcement of Promotions - Ida Marshall, 
Senior Manager of Talent Acquisition 

 
XVI. Introduction of Resolutions: 

 
A. 2026-1 – EXPRESSING CONGRATULATIONS TO THE EMPLOYEES OF THE 

GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY WHO RETIRED DURING 
THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2025 
 

B. 2026-2 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-109 WITH EXPERT OF CANTON DBA 
COMPLETE PEST SOLUTIONS FOR PEST CONTROL SERVICES IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $205,200.00 FOR THE BASE THREE-YEAR PERIOD AND IN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $68,400.00 FOR EACH OF TWO OPTION YEARS, FOR A 
TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $342,000.00 FOR FIVE YEARS 
(GENERAL FUND, CENTRAL FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

C. 2026-3 -- AUTHORIZING A RENEWAL AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF SHAKER 
HEIGHTS FOR LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE AND PARKING LOT SNOW REMOVAL 
FOR A PERIOD OF TWO (2) YEARS BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2026, IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $277,915.81 FOR 2026 AND $283,127.40 FOR 2027 (GENERAL 
FUND, PROGRAMMING & PLANNING DEPARTMENT BUDGET)  

 
D. 2026-4 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-130 WITH ESK LANDSCAPING LLC 

TO PROVIDE NON-RAIL AND HEALTHLINE LANDSCAPING SERVICES FOR A 
PERIOD OF THREE YEARS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $791,636.40 AND IN 
AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED $272,654.76 AND $280,259.80, FOR EACH OF THE TWO 
OPTION YEARS, RESPECTIVELY, FOR A TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $1,344,550.96 (GENERAL FUND, CENTRAL FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 
DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

E. 2026-5 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2026-001 WITH AT&T CORP ON BEHALF 
OF AT&T NATIONAL MOBILITY ACCOUNTS, LLC TO PROVIDE MOBILE DATA 
SERVICES THROUGH THE STATE OF OHIO'S DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE 
SERVICES, COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM, IN AN AMOUNT NOT 
EXCEED $300,000.00 FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR. (GENERAL FUND, 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
F. 2026-6 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-143 WITH DELTA RAILROAD 

CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE FACILITY TRANSFER 
TABLE AT TRACK 3 RECONSTRUCTION IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$1,093,055.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT 
DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
January 20, 2026 
Page 3 
 

G. 2026-7 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-153 WITH STANDARD 
CONTRACTING & ENGINEERING, INC. FOR THE CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE 
FACILITY MODIFICATIONS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $9,505,365.00 (RTA 
DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET) 

 
H. 2026-8 -- AUTHORIZING AN INCREASE TO CONTRACT NO. 2025-007 WITH R.L. 

HILL/PLATFORM CONTRACTING JOINT VENTURE FOR PROJECT 24X – EAST 79TH 
ST. GREEN AND BLUE LINE STATION RECONSTRUCTION IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$67,550.00 FOR A NEW TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT OF $10,549,329.86 AND 
REINSTATING THE GENERAL MANAGER, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S CHANGE 
ORDER SIGNING AUTHORITY IN ITS ENTIRETY (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, 
ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
I. 2026-9 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-151 WITH SCHIRMER 

CONSTRUCTION LLC FOR PROJECT 66E1 – RED LINE STATION PLATFORM 
MODIFICATIONS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $11,111,000.00 (RTA 
DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET) 

 
J. 2026-10 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-145 WITH RAILWORKS TRACK 

SERVICES, LLC FOR PROJECT 55B - REPAIR OF MAIN AVENUE BROKEN RAIL IN 
AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $424,924.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, 
ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
K. 2026-11 -- AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-136 WITH AECOM TECHNICAL 

SERVICES, INC. TO PROVIDE CONSULTING SERVICES TO UPDATE THE 
AUTHORITY’S EXISTING STRATEGIC PLAN IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$465,000.00 (DEVELOPMENT FUND, PROGRAMMING & PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET) 

 
L. 2026-12 -- APPROVING THE 2026 TITLE VI PROGRAM UPDATE FOR SUBMITTAL TO 

THE FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) 
 
Secretary-Treasurer’s Report – Rajan Gautam, Deputy General Manager, Finance 

a. General Fund Revenue – December 2025 compared to December 2024  
b. General Fund Revenue – period ending December 2025 compared to 

budget 
c. Sales & Tax Receipts Report budgeted during 2025, actual receipts 

through December 31, 2025 
d. Inventory of Treasury Investments as of November 30, 2025 
e. Debt Service Schedule and Status of Bond Retirement Fund (cash basis) 

as of December 31, 2025 
f. Summary of Investment Performance, Year to Date through December 31, 

2025 
g. Report on Investment Earnings (cash basis) as of December 31, 2025 
h. Composition of Investment Portfolio as of December 31, 2025 
i. Banking and Financial Relationships as of December 31, 2025 

 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
January 20, 2026 
Page 4 
 

XVII. General Manager’s Report – India L. Birdsong Terry, General Manager, Chief 
Executive Officer 

 
XVIII. President’s Report  

 
XIX. Old Business  

 
XX. New Business 
 

XXI. The next regular Board meeting is scheduled for February 17, 2026, in the Board 
Room of the Authority, Root-McBride Building, 1240 West Sixth Street, Cleveland, 
Ohio 44113. This meeting will be live-streamed on GCRTA’s Board page 
(www.RideRTA.com/board) by clicking the meeting date.  The public is welcome 
to attend in person. 
 

XXII. Adjournment 

http://www.riderta.com/board


 

 
RTA Board of Trustees Meeting 

 
December 16, 2025 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
Board Members: Mayor Koomar (President) Ms. Pacetti (Vice President), Ms. Elder, 

Mayor Gallo, Mr. Love, Ms. McPherson, Mr. Sleasman, Mayor Weiss, 
Ms. Smith Whigham 
 

Staff/Other: Shawn Becker, Nick Biggar, India Birdsong Terry, Felicia Brooks-
Williams, Janet Burney, Floun’say Caver, Brent Charnigo, Wayne 
Colonna, Nick Davidson, Wendy Feinn, George Fields, Bob Fleig, 
Joel Freilich, Catherine Galla, Anthony Garofoli, Rajan Gautam, 
Sharon Jenkins, Chief Deirdre Jones, Lawrence Jupina, Carl Kirkland, 
Ida Marshall, Sheila Miller, Charles Morgan, Steve Peganoff, Mike 
Schipper, Kay Sutula, Wendy Talley, John Togher, Eric Vukmanic, 
Carolyn Young 
 

Public: Kevin Hinkle, Ron Jackson, Loh, Joseph Sopko, Carren Woods 
 

I. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Koomar called the meeting to order at 10:50 a.m.   

 
II. Roll Call 

 
A quorum was present. 

 
III. Certification regarding Notice of Meeting 

 
It was advised that the notice of this meeting had been posted more than twenty-four hours in 
advance of the meeting, that the usual notification had been given to the news media and other 
interested persons, and that all requirements of the Ohio Revised Code and Rules and Bylaws 
of this Board regarding notice of meeting had been complied with.   

 
IV. Approval of Meeting Minutes  

 
Ms. McPherson moved, and Mr. Sleasman seconded to approve the minutes of the November 
18, 2025, Board Meeting.  The motion was unanimously approved. 
 

V.  Executive Session Requested – to discuss details of security arrangements and 
emergency response protocols 

 
Mr. Sleasman moved, and Ms. McPherson seconded to go into Executive Session.  The motion 
was unanimously approved. 
 
The Board was in Executive Session from 9:02 a.m. to 9:42 a.m. 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 2 of 9 
 
Mr. Sleasman moved, and Ms. McPherson seconded to resume the meeting.  The motion was 
unanimously approved. 
 

VI. Public Comments – Agenda and Non-Agenda Items 
 
Members of the public addressed the Board regarding both agenda and non-agenda items.  
Public comments submitted through the webform will appear in their original form and have not 
been edited for grammar or content. GCRTA reserves the right not to publish any explicit 
language, derogatory remarks, or personal attacks against individuals. 
 

1. Ron Jackson, Maple Heights (in-person) 
 
Mr. Jackson stated that he was an avid paratransit writer, and highlighted recurring issues with 
paratransit pickup times being changed at the last minute, resulting in missed appointments and 
financial loss. Mr. Jackson expressed frustration over the lack of follow-up after lodging 
complaints and requested a remedy for his inconvenience. 
 

2. Len (in-person) 
 
The speaker stated that service reductions decrease independence – particularly for people with 
disabilities.  The speaker also raised concerns about the sensory environment of certain 
vehicles and called for more sensory-friendly practices and vehicle inspections. 
 

3. Teresa Reed  (in-person) 
 
Ms. Reed recounted multiple instances of delayed pickups and cancellations, particularly as a 
diabetic, and urged the Board to ensure timely and reliable paratransit service. 
 

4. Kevin Hinkle (in-person) 
 
Mr. Hinkle described a recent safety incident and urged stricter enforcement of policies to 
prevent passengers from blocking bus aisles. 
 

5. Paul Meissner (in-person) 
 
Mr. Meissner stated that transit agencies across the country have similar financial challenges as 
RTA and urged transparency and proactive communication regarding potential fare increases or 
service cuts. 
 

6. Carren Woods -- Cleveland (in-person) 
 
Ms. Woods thanked GCRTA for their service and stated that she appreciated the kindness 
paratransit staff showed her. 
 

7. Airric Stewart (phone) 
 
Mr. Stewart stated that he would like to know the answer to the following questions.  Once the 
payment has been fully made on the new railcars, even if there's interest included, what will the 
full cost have been for putting in these new railcars?  Is there going to be an additional cost 
separate from your regular payments to your employees to adjust the rails for the railcars? 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 3 of 9 
 
 
Are you looking to get more buses and if so, at what cost and how many buses are you behind 
on payment for the current new buses that you have prior to April 15 of this year. Did you 
already know that you were going to have to make some adjustments because you were 
running behind in cost on your on your duties to your employees, meaning that you going to 
have to reduce some employees, reduce some services, and if you did know that, did you know 
that?  It was going to be $11 million as it was reported in the newspaper recently. And if you 
didn't know it was $11 million that, you know, it was going to be any at all. 
 
And if you're going to do some reductions and you already know what they are, could you state 
them today instead of dropping them on the public at the last minute. You need to raise fares. 
You need to go ahead and raise them now and get it out the way so the public can make the 
necessary adjustments for that.  
 

8. Airric Stewart, Cleveland (webform) 
 
Post this verbatim. Do you already know if the 50, 48, 15, 14, 40, and 19 bus routes are going to 
have reductions in service in the upcoming year? It is best to let the public know about this as 
soon as possible. There has still not been any questions answered on my last six (6) webforms 
and public comment phone calls. RTA has a responsibility to the socioeconomic well-being of 
the public through the implementation of public transit. RTA has failed at this responsibility by 
refusing to not implement the repeatedly suggested number 48A and 15A routes--timespan 
suggestions included. The public is owed a fair opportunity to receive the facts on these 
suggestions and make a thorough examination so that ridership can make a decision if they 
want these routes. Respect the accurate assessment of the facts. The imagery that is being 
used by this taxpayer-funded public agency's leadership to mislead the public is foul on multiple 
levels. Healthy efficiency should be RTA's highest priority in reference to the routes. 
 

9. Benjamin Delfino, Mayfield Village (webform) 
 
Of all of the options that RTA/NOAWCA had for the Health Line you choose the worst. Replace 
it with a Light Rail Line that begins at Van Aken (Blue Line) and ends at the Terminal Tower. 
From East 30th Street to Public Square run it underground. 
 

10. Urvish Patel, Cleveland (webform) 
 
My name is Urvish Patel, and I am writing to respectfully request that RTA continue its 
partnership with Cleveland State University (CSU) and not discontinue the student transit pass 
program. I am an international student at CSU, and owning a car is not financially possible for 
me. RTA buses and trains are my only reliable means of transportation, allowing me to 
commute daily between my home and the university for classes, research, and teaching 
responsibilities. 
 
Beyond academics, I depend on RTA for essential daily needs, including grocery shopping 
especially to Indian grocery stores (in Parma), clothing, and other necessities. The Red Line is 
also my only affordable option to reach the airport. RTA is not just transportation for me; it is 
essential to my daily life. 
 
The CSU student pass is truly life-changing. Regular fares cost about $100 per month, while the 
CSU pass costs around $60 for four months, saving me approximately $340 per semester. This 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 4 of 9 
 
amount covers groceries, phone bills, or a portion of my rent. I sincerely beg you to please 
continue this service, as it is essential for students like me to continue our education. 
 
In response, CEO India Birdsong Terry clarified that the CSU student pass program remains 
active, following a reversal of an earlier decision by CSU to discontinue it.  No service cuts were 
planned for 2025, and any potential changes would be communicated well in advance.  
 

VII.  Board Governance Committee Report 
 
An affidavit signed by Trustee Smith Whigham was read into the record. 
 

VIII.  Operational Planning & Infrastructure Committee Report 
 
No committee report 

 
IX. Organizational, Services & Performance Monitoring Committee Report 

 
No committee report 

 
X.  Audit, Safety Compliance and Real Estate Committee Report 

 
Mayor Weiss stated that the Committee will have a follow-up meeting in January with the hope 
of approving the updated Audit Charter in February.  He distributed a sheet that provides an 
opportunity for Board members to suggest topics for the 2026 audit plan. 
 

XI. External and Stakeholder Relations and Advocacy Committee Report 
 
No committee report 

 
XII. Committee of the Whole 

 
No committee report 

 
XIII. Civilian Oversight Committee (COC) Report 

 
No committee report 

 
XIV. Community Advisory Committee (CAC) 

 
The CAC Rules Committee will meet Thursday, November 20, at 9:00. 

 
XV. Ad Hoc Committee Reports 

a. Ad-Hoc Compensation Committee 
b. Ad-Hoc Nominating Committee 

 
No committee report 
 
 
 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 5 of 9 
 

XVI.   Introduction of New Employees/Promotions 
 
Ms. Marshall, Senior Manager, Talent Acquisition provided an update on new hires and 
promotions for December. She noted that this month’s additions are considered essential and 
are primarily in operations, including a group of new bus operators. Ms. Marshall welcomed the 
new employees, emphasizing their role in ensuring safety and reliability for riders. 
 

XVII. Introduction of Resolutions 
 

A. 2025-111 – REAPPOINTMENT OF EIGHT MEMBERS TO THE COMMUNITY 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE (CAC) 

 
Floun’say Caver, Chief Operating Officer, stated that the size of the committee may have a 
number of individuals between 11 and 15.  With the reappointment of eight (8) members, the 
total of members of the Committee would be 11. 
 
Dr. Caver also noted that the Board has the responsibility to develop a selection process and 
may add up to four (4) members at its will. 
 
Ms. McPherson moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. Smith Whigham.  The motion 
was approved unanimously. 

 
B. 2025-112 – AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-100 WITH KNOX KERSHAW, INC. 

FOR THE PROCUREMENT OF A BALLAST REGULATOR IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $566,558.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, FLEET MANAGEMENT 
DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Mr. Sleasman moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Mr. Love.  The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

 
C. 2025-113 – AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-128 WITH COOK PAVING & 

CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. FOR LIGHT RAIL RETAINING WALL REPAIRS – PHASE 
III IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,360,138.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, 
ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Mr. Sleasman moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. McPherson.  The motion was 
approved with one abstention by Mayor Weiss. 

 
D. 2025-114 – AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-132 WITH SLE TECHNOLOGIES, 

INC. FOR PARATRANSIT VEHICLE LIFT REPLACEMENT – PHASE I IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $612,814.42 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Mr. Sleasman moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. McPherson.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 6 of 9 
 

E. 2025-115 – AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-156 WITH ORACLE AMERICA, INC. 
TO PROVIDE ORACLE EBS SOFTWARE LICENSES, MAINTENANCE & SUPPORT 
SERVICES FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$756,632.95 (GENERAL FUND, MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SERVICES 
DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Mayor Weiss moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. Pacetti.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

F. 2025-116 – AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-157 WITH TRAPEZE SOFTWARE 
GROUP, INC. TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL LICENSES FOR ITS TRAPEZE 
PARATRANSIT SOFTWARE IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $395,500.00 
(GENERAL FUND, INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Ms. Pacetti moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Mr. Sleasman.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

G. 2025-117 – AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF PROPERTY INSURANCE FROM 
LIBERTY MUTUAL AND EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY, THROUGH AON RISK 
SERVICES NORTHEAST, INC., FOR A PERIOD OF TWELVE (12) MONTHS FOR A 
TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,453,938.00 (GENERAL FUND, 
RISK MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

 
Mayor Weiss moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Mr. Sleasman.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

H. 2025-118 – AMENDING ARTICLE VII OF THE BYLAWS AND SECTIONS 220.03 AND 
642.01 OF THE CODIFIED RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GREATER 
CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY AND REPEALING SECTION 620.04 
OF THE CODIFIED RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GREATER CLEVELAND 
REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

 
Mr. Sleasman moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. McPherson.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

I. 2025-119 – AMENDING CHAPTERS 460 AND 842 OF THE CODIFIED RULES AND 
REGULATIONS OF THE GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

 
Rajan Gautam, Deputy General Manager, Finance, reminded the Board that the proposed 
provisions in Chapter 460 relate to the 15-day floor, the Budget Stabilization Fund and the 
creation of the TOD Reserve Fund.  The changes previously proposed to the operating ratio 
have not been made and the language remains the same. 
 
Mr. Sleasman moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. Pacetti.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 7 of 9 
 

J. 2025-120 – AMENDING SECTION 1013.04 AND CHAPTER 1086 OF THE CODIFIED 
RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT 
AUTHORITY 

 
Mayor Gallo moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Ms. Smith Whigham.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

K. 2025-121 – APPROVAL OF THE AUTHORITY’S 2026 PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION 
AGENCY SAFETY PLAN (“PTASP”) 

 
CEO Terry noted the work that has gone into the PTASP, which codifies the work that goes into 
maintaining the safety of the system. 
 
Mayor Koomar moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Mayor Gallo.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

L. 2025-122 – MAKING APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE CURRENT EXPENSES AND 
OTHER EXPENDITURES FOR THE GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT 
AUTHORITY DURING FISCAL YEAR  2026 

 
Mayor Weiss moved to adopt the resolution; seconded by Mayor Gallo.  The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

Secretary-Treasurer’s Report 
 
Rajan Gautam, Deputy General Manager of Finance and Secretary-Treasurer, presented the 
Secretary-Treasurer’s report. 
 
Consumer sentiment has been consistent during recent months.  Year-to-date ridership was 
1.3% lower than 2024 levels and 23.8% below 2019 pre-COVID levels, with fare revenue 
reflecting similar trends.  Large receipts are 2.9% below 2024 levels and 25% below 2019. 
November 2025 receipts were 3.4% lower when compared to the previous year. Year to date, 
we had 3.6% higher when compared to last year.  Ridership for 2025 is 22.6 million compared 
to 22.9 million in 2024, but below 29.6 million in 2019. 
 
Moving to the 2025 budget, Mr. Gautam stated that staff budgeted a transfer of $50.5 million 
from the Revenue Stabilization Fund to support operations.  To date, $45 million has been 
transferred.  Staff will monitor whether the entire budgeted amount will be utilized by year end.  
 
Long-term debt remained steady at $13.9 million and an $8 million principle payment was made 
in early December.  Investment yields averaged just over 4%. Total cash and investments were 
$347.6 million, of which $316.1 million is in restricted funds. The unrestricted or General Fund 
cash and investments amount is $31.5 million. Mr. Gautam noted that long-term debt has 
decreased dramatically since a high of nearly $170 million in 2012. If no new debt is issued, 
GCRTA will be debt-free by the end of 2030. 
 
Mayor Koomar noted that ridership has decreased slightly from 2024 to 2025.  Mr. Gautam 
stated that ridership has been relatively stable, but increased year-to-year following the 
pandemic.  Staff will continue monitoring that to determine whether this is a trend to be 
concerned about. 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 8 of 9 
 

XVIII. General Manager, CEO Report 
 
India L. Birdsong Terry, General Manager and CEO, began the report by acknowledging recent 
fatalities on the transit system, emphasizing the agency’s commitment to safety and the swift 
response of transit police.  Staff worked with local authorities to ensure that both perpetrators 
were captured and apprehended within an hour or less of both incidents.  She assured that staff 
does everything it can to monitor the system and be there when needed.  
 
Moving to the next subject of the report, CEO Terry stated that GCRTA was awarded over $4 
million through the Ohio Department of Transportation in a partnership that focuses on low or 
no-emission vehicles and training.  Discussions are ongoing regarding efforts to modernize the 
vehicle fleet with CNG, diesel, and hybrid vehicles. 
 
CEO Terry stated that she represented the Authority during a “Fireside Chat” at In Council With 
Women, the Plexus Young Professionals Dinner, the American Public Transit Association and 
the Ohio Public Transportation Association, which is an advocacy organization that recognized 
GCRTA for its 50th anniversary. 
 
The importance of the Employee Assistance Program was highlighted, which is provided by 
Moore Counseling, in supporting staff through personal and professional challenges. 
 
CEO Terry is in the midst of conducting holiday district visits with a mini state of the agency for 
employees. 
 
CEO Terry welcomed new Board member Ms. Smith Whigham and congratulated Mayor Weiss 
for his re-election to the Board. 
 
A moment was taken to honor the late Gizella Gregoire, former legal secretary and office 
manager, for her decades of dedicated service to RTA. 
 

XIX. President’s Report 
 
Mayor Koomar reiterated the importance of timely feedback for the 2026 risk-based internal 
audit plan and encouraged board members to submit their suggestions promptly. 
 

XX.       Old Business 
 

No items. 
 

XXI. New Business 
 

No items. 
 

XXII. Upcoming Meetings 
 

The next regular Board meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 20, 2026. 
 
 
 
 



GCRTA Board of Trustees 
December 16, 2025 
Page 9 of 9 
 

XXIII. Adjournment 
 

There being no further business, a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Mayor Koomar 
and seconded by Ms. Pacetti; the motion was approved by unanimous vote.  The meeting was 
adjourned at 10:47 a.m.                  

                       
 
 

Attest: _________________________________       __________________________________ 
                           Secretary-Treasurer    President 









Form 100- o 
326 
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: PEST CONTROL SERVICES 

VENDOR: EXPERT OF CANTON OBA COMPLETE PEST 
SOLUTIONS 

AMOUNT: NOT TO EXCEED $205,200.00 FOR THE BASE THREE-
YEAR PERIOD AND AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED 
$68,400.00 FOR EACH OF TWO OPTION YEARS, FOR A 
TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$342,000.00 FOR FIVE YEARS 

ACTION REQUEST: 

� Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

Resolution No.: 

2026-2

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: Central 
Facilities Maintenance 
Department 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract to provide pest control services for the Authority's 
buildings, rapid stations, buses, and railcars for a three-year period with two, one-year renewal 
options. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: The Authority contracts for pest control services for all 
building, rapid stations, buses, and railcars on a regular and as-needed basis. The vendor 
must be certified by the State of Ohio to perform the necessary tasks. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Request for Proposal was posted on the Authority's 
Procurement Department website and advertised in local newspapers. Three (3) interested 
parties downloaded the solicitation package. Two (2) proposals were received on August 19, 
2025. After evaluation by a panel of Authority employees, in accordance with established 
Procurement Department policies and procedures and after negotiations, the proposal from 
Expert of Canton DBA Complete Pest Control Solutions was determined to be in the best 
interest of the Authority. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT: This procurement shall be payable through the General Fund, Central 
Facilities Maintenance Department budget, in an amount not to exceed $205,200.00 for the 
base three-year period, and in amounts not to exceed $68,400.00 for each of two option years, 
for a total contract amount not to exceed $342,000.00 for five years. 

7 .0 ALTERNATIVES: Reject this offer. Rejection of this offer will result in an inability to maintain 
and continue the pest control program, creating a health risk for passengers and employees. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the offer from Expert of Canton DBA Complete 
Pest Solutions be accepted and the resolution adopted authorizing the General Manager, Chief 
Executive Officer to enter into a contract. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-2 
 

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-109 WITH EXPERT OF CANTON DBA 
COMPLETE PEST SOLUTIONS FOR PEST CONTROL SERVICES IN AN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $205,200.00 FOR THE BASE THREE-YEAR PERIOD 
AND IN AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED $68,400.00 FOR EACH OF TWO OPTION 
YEARS, FOR A TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$342,000.00 FOR FIVE YEARS (GENERAL FUND, CENTRAL FACILITIES 
MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

 WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“Authority”) requires pest 
control services for its buildings, rapid stations, buses, and railcars; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the proposal from Expert of Canton DBA Complete Pest Solutions, with an 
office located at 43 Roche Way, Youngstown, Ohio 44512, to perform pest control services for a 
period of three years with two, one-year options, was received on August 19, 2025; and 
 
 WHEREAS, after negotiations, Expert of Canton DBA Complete Pest Solutions has 
offered to provide the services in an amount not to exceed $205,200.00 for the base three-year 
period, and in amounts not to exceed $68,400.00 for each of two option years, for a total contract 
amount not to exceed $342,000.00 for five years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the offer from Expert of 
Canton DBA Complete Pest Solutions to be in the best interest of the Authority, price and other 
factors considered, and recommends acceptance thereof by the Board of Trustees. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 

Section 1.  That the offer from Expert of Canton DBA Complete Pest Solutions to provide 
pest control services for the three-year base period, with two, one-year options be and the same 
is hereby accepted. 
 
 Section 2.  That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer of the Authority be and she 
is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with Expert of Canton DBA Complete Pest Solutions 
to provide pest control services for a three-year base period, with the authority to exercise the 
two, one-year options. 
 
 Section 3.  That said contract shall be payable from the General Fund, Central Facilities 
Maintenance Department budget, in an amount not to exceed $205,200.00 for the three-year 
base period, and in amounts not to exceed $68,400.00 for each of the two option years, for a total 
contract amount not to exceed $342,000.00 for five years. 
 
 Section 4.  That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon future funding, compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, 
if any; bonding and insurance requirements and all applicable laws relating to contractual 
obligations of the Authority. 
 

Section 5.  That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
Adopted: ____________________              ___________________________________ 
               President 
 
Attest: _____________________________________ 
                             Secretary-Treasurer    



 

 
To:  Mayor Paul A. Koomar, President 
  and Members, Board of Trustees 
 
From:  India L. Birdsong Terry 
  General Manager, Chief Executive Officer 
 
Date:  January 15, 2026 
 
Subject: Shaker Heights Maintenance Agreement - Landscape Maintenance and Parking 

Lot Snow Removal for Two Years 
 
 
At the January 6, 2026 meeting of the Organizational, Services & Performance Monitoring 
Committee, staff presented the proposed two-year renewal of the agreement with the City of 
Shaker Heights for landscape maintenance and snow removal along the Blue and Green Lines.  
By virtue of the Mass Transit System Transfer Agreement of 1975 and a series of subsequent 
agreements, this maintenance agreement is required. 
 
In addition to the annual maintenance agreement, the presentation to the Board also referred to 
additional services for the one-time planting of replacement landscaping which will occur in 
conjunction with Project 18.82 A, B & C - Light Rail Shelter Replacement Project which was 
previously approved by the Board in Resolutions 2025-003, 2025-004, and 2025-005.  This one-
time planting, which is estimated at a not-to-exceed amount of $33,604.90, will be paid to 
Shaker Heights with federal dollars from the Light Rail Shelter Replacement Project. 
 
The resolution for renewal of the Shaker Heights Maintenance Agreement requests 
authorization for payments not-to-exceed $277,915.81 and $283,127.40 for calendar years 
2026 and 2027, respectively.   
 
Please contact me or Anna Hlavacs at (216) 356-3095 if you have any questions or require 
additional information prior to Tuesday’s meeting. 
 
IBT/ah 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







RESOLUTION NO. 2026-3 
 

AUTHORIZING A RENEWAL AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF SHAKER 
HEIGHTS FOR LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE AND PARKING LOT SNOW 
REMOVAL FOR A PERIOD OF TWO (2) YEARS BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2026 
IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $277,915.81 FOR 2026 AND $283,127.40 
FOR 2027 (GENERAL FUND, PROGRAMMING & PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET)  

 
 WHEREAS, R.C. 306.43(H)(4) permits a regional transit authority to enter into agreements 
for goods or services with another political subdivision without competitive procedures; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Shaker Heights (“City”) and the Greater Cleveland Regional 
Transit Authority (“Authority”) entered into the Mass Transit System Transfer Agreement on 
September 5, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, by virtue of the Mass Transit System Transfer Agreement of 1975 and a 
series of subsequent agreements (collectively, the “Agreement”), the City and Authority agreed 
that the City will perform maintenance of grounds adjoining rail rights-of-way and remove snow 
from the Authority's parking lots at rail stations within the City, and that the Authority shall 
reimburse the City for the cost thereof; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to its requirements under the Agreement, the Authority has agreed 
to reimburse the City for maintenance of grounds and snow removal for a period of two (2) years, 
from January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2026, for a total amount not to exceed $277,915.81 
and from January 1, 2027 through December 31, 2027 for a total amount not to exceed 
$283,127.40. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 

Section 1.  That the General Manager, CEO be and she is hereby authorized to renew an 
agreement with the City for the maintenance of grounds adjoining the rail rights-of-way, including 
snow removal from the Authority’s parking lots within the City for a period of two (2) years 
commencing January 1, 2026 and ending December 31, 2027. 
 

Section 2.  The services under this agreement will be funded through the General Fund, 
Programming & Planning Department budget, in an amount not to exceed $277,915.81 for 2026 
and in an amount not to exceed $283,127.40 for 2027. 
 
 Section 3.  That said agreement shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon appropriation of funds and upon compliance by the City with the terms and 
conditions of the agreement, bonding and insurance requirements, and all applicable laws relating 
to contractual obligations of the Authority. 
 
Section 4.  That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
 
Adopted: January 20, 2026               ___________________________________ 
                President 
 
 
 
Attest: _____________________________________ 
                             Secretary-Treasurer  



Form 100-

G326 
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: NON-RAIL AND HEAL THLINE LANDSCAPING 
SERVICES 

VENDOR: ESK LANDSCAPING LLC 

AMOUNT: NOT TO EXCEED $791,636.40 FOR A THREE-YEAR 
PERIOD AND IN AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED 
$272,654.76 AND $280,259.80 FOR EACH OF THE TWO 
OPTION YEARS, RESPECTIVELY, FOR A TOTAL 
CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,344,550.96 

ACTION REQUEST: 

� Approval □ Review/Comment D Information Only D Other 

Resolution No.: 

2026-4

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: Central 
Facilities Maintenance 
Department 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract to provide Non-Rail and Healthline Landscaping Services 
for a period of three years with two, one-year options. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: Landscaping is an integral aspect of maintaining the public 
image of the Authority, and it is required for compliance with laws and regulations. The 
Authority does not have the equipment or expertise to properly maintain the Non-Rail and 
Healthline landscaping sites. Therefore, a landscaping contractor is necessary to maintain the 
high standards established by all key stakeholders. The Non-Rail and Healthline landscaping 
sites require: weekly turf and bed maintenance; spring and fall cleanups; mulching; tree, bush, 
and shrub pruning; weed control; and bio-retention basin maintenance. The Healthline 
landscaping sites additionally require semi-annual flower planting with watering, as needed, 
and winter plant protection. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Request for Proposals (RFP) was posted on the 
Procurement Department website and advertised in the local newspapers. Two (2) proposals 
were received on November 10, 2025 in response to this solicitation. After evaluation by a 
panel of Authority employees in accordance with established Procurement Department policies 
and procedures, and after negotiations, the proposal of ESK Landscaping LLC to provide Non­
Rail and Healthline Landscaping Services in an amount not to exceed $791,636.40 for three 
years and in amounts not to exceed $272,654.76 and $280,259.80 for each of the two option 
years, respectively, for a total contract amount not to exceed $1,344,550.96 was selected as 
the most advantageous to the Authority. 

A cost analysis was performed, and the Procurement Department has determined the 
negotiated price to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. This amount is 10.96% below the 
independent cost estimate. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-4 
 

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-130 WITH ESK LANDSCAPING LLC TO 
PROVIDE NON-RAIL AND HEALTHLINE LANDSCAPING SERVICES FOR A 
PERIOD OF THREE YEARS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $791,636.40 AND 
IN AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED $272,654.76 AND $280,259.80 FOR EACH OF 
THE TWO OPTION YEARS, RESPECTIVELY, FOR A TOTAL CONTRACT 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,344,550.96 (GENERAL FUND, CENTRAL 
FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

 WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“Authority”) requires 
professional landscaping services to maintain its Non-Rail and HealthLine properties; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposal of ESK Landscaping LLC, with an office at 9000 Bank Street, 
Valley View, OH 44124, to perform Non-Rail and HealthLine Landscaping Services for a period 
of three-years with two, one-year options was received on November 10, 2025; and 
 
 WHEREAS, after negotiations, ESK Landscaping LLC has offered to provide Non-Rail 
and HealthLine Landscaping Services in an amount not to exceed $791,636.40 for a three year 
period and in amounts not to exceed $272,654.76 and $280,259.80 for each of the two option 
years, respectively, for a total contract amount not to exceed $1,344,550.96; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the offer of ESK 
Landscaping LLC to be in the best interest of the Authority, price and other factors considered, 
and recommends acceptance thereof by the Board of Trustees. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 

Section 1.  That the offer from ESK Landscaping LLC, as negotiated, to provide Non-Rail 
and HealthLine Landscaping Services for a three-year period with two, one-year options be and 
the same is hereby accepted. 
 
 Section 2.  That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer of the Authority be and she 
is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with ESK Landscaping LLC to provide Non-Rail and 
HealthLine Landscaping Services for a three-year period, with the authority to exercise two, one-
year options. 

 Section 3.  That this contract will be funded through the General Fund, Central Facilities 
Maintenance Department budget, in an amount not to exceed $791,636.40 for a three year period 
and in amounts not to exceed $272,654.76 and $280,259.80 for each of the two option years, 
respectively, for a total contract amount not to exceed $1,344,550.96. 

 Section 4.  That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, if any; bonding 
and insurance requirements and all applicable laws relating to contractual obligations of the 
Authority. 
  

Section 5.  That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
Adopted: ______________________, 2026             ___________________________________ 
                President 
 
Attest: _____________________________________ 
                             Secretary-Treasurer    



Form 100-

G326 
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: MOBILE DATA SERVICES 

VENDOR: AT&T CORP ON BEHALF OF AT&T NATIONAL 
MOBILITY ACCOUNTS, LLC 

AMOUNT: NTE $300,000.00 FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR 

ACTION REQUEST: 

� Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

Resolution No.: 

2026-5

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: Information 
Technology 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This resolution will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit 
Authority ("Authority") to enter into a contract for mobile data services (commercial and 
FirstNet cellular services) for onboard connectivity through the Ohio Department of 
Administrative Services, Cooperative Purchasing Program ("Cooperative Purchasing 
Program"). 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: The Authority provides bus, rail and paratransit service in 
the Greater Cleveland area. In order to provide safe and efficient service, the Authority 
maintains real-time, 24/7 communication with the vehicle operators and systems installed 
on each vehicle. These systems include fare collection equipment, operator consoles, 
mobile data terminals, mobile digital video recorders, automatic vehicle locating, vehicle 
telematics, and passenger information and infotainment systems. Additionally, the 
Authority's Service Quality Department manages all services while in operation. 
Supervisors communicate 24/7 with field supervisors, operators and other employees 
through radio communication and our Computer Aided Dispatch/Automated Vehicle 
Location software, which requires reliable mobile connectivity to the vehicles. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: In Chapter 410 of the Codified Rules and Regulations 
of the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Code Book"), the Board of Trustees 
has authorized the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer to utilize the Cooperative 
Purchasing Program. 

The Cooperative Purchasing Program includes a contract with AT&T Corp on behalf of AT&T 
National Mobility Accounts, LLC under State Term Contract No. MSA0022-1. Said contract will 
allow the Authority to obtain the needed services, as required, for a total amount not to exceed 
$300,000.00 for a period of one year. The price established is the result of a competitive 
solicitation process and is offered to qualifying government entities. This price is within the 
budgeted amount for this procurement. 

A cost analysis has been performed, and the Procurement Department has determined that 
the pricing provided by AT&T Corp on behalf of AT&T National Mobility Accounts, LLC is fair 
and reasonable for the Authority. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-5 
 

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2026-001 WITH AT&T CORP ON BEHALF OF 
AT&T NATIONAL MOBILITY ACCOUNTS, LLC TO PROVIDE MOBILE DATA 
SERVICES THROUGH THE STATE OF OHIO'S DEPARTMENT OF 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES, COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM, IN AN 
AMOUNT NOT EXCEED $300,000.00 FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR (GENERAL 
FUND, INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

 WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“Authority”) has a need for 
mobile data services for operations in accordance with the state and local regulations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, such services are available from AT&T National Mobility Accounts, LLC, 
located at 1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, Atlanta, GA 30319-5309, through the Ohio Department of 
Administrative Services, Cooperative Purchasing Program (“Cooperative Purchasing Program”); 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Cooperative Purchasing Program provides political subdivisions within 
the State of Ohio the opportunity to participate in contracts executed by the State of Ohio, 
Department of Administrative Services, Office of State Purchasing, for the purchase of supplies, 
services, equipment, and certain materials; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 306.43(H)(4) of the Ohio Revised Code permits a regional transit 
authority to participate in said program; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees authorized utilization of the Cooperative Purchasing 
Program in Resolution No. 2017-102, as set forth in Chapter 410 of the Codified Rules and 
Regulations of the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“Code Book”); and   
 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer has deemed it to be in the best 
interest of the Authority to utilize the Cooperative Purchasing Program for obtaining mobile data 
services from AT&T Corp on behalf of AT&T National Mobility Accounts, LLC for a period of one 
year, and recommends acceptance thereof by the Board of Trustees. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 

Section 1.  That the offer of AT&T Corp on behalf of AT&T National Mobility Accounts, 
LLC, through the Cooperative Purchasing Program, to provide mobile data services for a period 
of one year, be and the same is hereby accepted. 
 
 Section 2.  That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer of the Authority be and she 
is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with AT&T Corp on behalf of AT&T National Mobility 
Accounts, LLC to provide mobile data services.  
 
 Section 3.  That said contract will be funded through the General Fund, Information 
Technology Department budget, in an amount not to exceed $300,000.00 for a period of one year. 
 
 Section 4.  That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
Adopted: __________________________             ___________________________________ 
                President 
 
Attest: _____________________________________ 
                             Secretary-Treasurer    



Form 
100-326
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE FACILITY TRANSFER 

Resolution No.: 
2026-6

TABLE AT TRACK 3 RECONSTRUCTION Date: 

VENDOR: DEL TA RAILROAD CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: Engineering 

AMOUNT: $1,093,055.00 & Project 
Development 
Department 

ACTION REQUEST: 

[gJ Approval D Review/Comment D Information Only D Other 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority"} to enter into a contract for Project 52Y(a}-Central Rail Maintenance Facility 
("CRMF"} Transfer Table at Track 3 Reconstruction. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: This project consists of the removal and replacement of the 
two Track 3 rails and four Transfer Table rails where they intersect within the Central Rail 
Maintenance Facility ("CRMF"}. The primary goal is to change the orientation of the rails so the 
Transfer Table rails take precedence as the continuous rail while the Track 3 rails become the 
butt rails. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Invitation for Bid ("IFB") was posted on the Authority's 
Procurement Department website and advertised in the local newspapers. Seven (7) interested 
parties, including potential subcontractors, downloaded the solicitation. Two (2) bids were 
received and opened on December 4, 2025, as follows: 

Company Name Total Base Bid 

Delta Railroad Construction, Inc. $1,093,055.00 

Suburban Maintenance and Construction Co., Inc. $1,433,000.00 

The bid from Delta Railroad Construction, Inc. ("Delta") has been determined by the 
Procurement Department to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder. 

A cost analysis has been performed, and the Procurement Department has determined the 
price to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. The total base bid is approximately 29.74% 
below the engineer's estimate. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT: This procurement shall be payable through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Local 
Funds in an amount not to exceed $1,093,055.00. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-6

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-143 WITH DELTA RAILROAD 
CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE FACILITY 
TRANSFER TABLE AT TRACK 3 RECONSTRUCTION IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $1,093,055.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Authority") deems it 
necessary to reconstruct the Central Rail Maintenance Facility ("CRMF") Transfer Table at 
Track 3; and 

WHEREAS, the bid from Delta Railroad Construction, Inc. ("Delta"), located at 2648 
West Prospect Road, Ashtabula, Ohio 44004, for Project 52Y(a) - Central Rail Maintenance 
Facility ("CRMF") Transfer Table at Track 3 Reconstruction was received on December 4, 2025; 
and 

WHEREAS, Delta has agreed to perform the required services in an amount not to 
exceed $1,093,055.00; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the bid from Delta to 
be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder and recommends acceptance thereof by 
the Board of Trustees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 

Section 1. That the bid from Delta for Project 52Y(a) - Central Rail Maintenance Facility 
("CRMF") Transfer Table at Track 3 Reconstruction be and the same is hereby accepted. 

Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer be and she is hereby 
authorized to enter into a contract with Delta for Project 52Y(a) - Central Rail Maintenance 
Facility ("CRMF") Transfer Table at Track 3 Reconstruction. 

Section 3. That said contract shall be funded through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Local Funds 
in an amount not to exceed $1,093,055.00. 

Section 4. That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, if any; the 
bonding and insurance requirements; and all applicable laws relating to contractual obligations 
of the Authority. 

Section 5. That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted: ________ _ 
President 

Attest: 
----------------

Secretary-Treasurer 



Form 
100-326
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE FACILITY 

MODIFICATIONS 

VENDOR: STANDARD CONTRACTING & ENGINEERING, 

Resolution No.: 
2026-7

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

INC Initiator: Engineering 
& Project 

AMOUNT: $9,505,365.00 Development 
Department 

ACTION REQUEST: 

181 Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract for Project 66D - CRMF Modifications. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: This project is to renovate the Central Rail Maintenance 
Facility ("CRMF") in order to maintain the new railcar fleet. The work in this project includes, 
but is not limited to: new steel mezzanines; new overhead cranes; catenary and other electrical 
modifications; modifications to the high bay area fire suppression; ductwork and hydronic lines; 
as well as a hydraulic brake repair room. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Invitation for Bid ("IFB") was posted on the Authority's 
website and advertised in the local newspapers. Fifteen (15) interested parties, including 
potential subcontractors, downloaded the solicitation. Six (6) bids were received and opened 
on December 19, 2025, as follows: 

Company Name Total Base Bid 

Standard Contracting & Engineering, Inc. $9,505,365.00 

SONA Construction, LLC $9,915,000.00 

Perk Company, Inc. $11,684,000.00 

Carpenters For Hire 11, Inc. $12,851,239.00 

Schirmer Construction LLC $13,818,000.00 

The Ruhlin Company $13,932,836.00 

The bid from Standard Contracting & Engineering, Inc. ("Standard") has been determined by 
the Procurement Department to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder. 

A cost analysis has been performed, and the Procurement Department has determined the 
price to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. The total base bid is approximately 4.18% 
below the engineer's estimate. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-7

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-153 WITH STANDARD CONTRACTING & 
ENGINEERING, INC. FOR CENTRAL RAIL MAINTENANCE FACILITY 
MODIFICATIONS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $9,505,365.00 (RTA 
DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Authority") deems it 
necessary to complete facility modifications to the Central Rail Maintenance Facility ("CRMF") to 
accommodate and maintain the new railcars; and 

WHEREAS, the bid from Standard Contracting & Engineering, Inc. ("Standard"), located 
at 6356 Eastland Road, Brook Park, Ohio 44142, was received on December 19, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, Standard has agreed to perform the required services for an amount not to 
exceed $9,505,365.00; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the bid from Standard 
to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder and recommends acceptance thereof 
by the Board of Trustees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 

Section 1. That the bid from Standard for the CRMF Modifications be and the same is 
hereby accepted. 

Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer be and she is hereby 
authorized to enter into a contract with Standard for the CRMF Modifications. 

Section 3. That said contract shall be funded through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grants OH-2023-042-307, OH-2023-042-337, OH-2024-011-307, OH-2024-011-337, and local 
advance funds pending the revision of OH-2023-042-307, in an amount not to exceed 
$9,505,365.00 ($7,604,292.00 in federal funds which represents 80% of the total cost). 

Section 4. That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, if any; the 
bonding and insurance requirements; and all applicable laws relating to contractual obligations 
of the Authority. 

Section 5. That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted: ________ _ 
President 

Attest: ______________ _ 
Secretary-Treasurer 



Form 100- e
326 
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE, DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: INCREASE TO CONTRACT NO. 2025-007 FOR PROJECT 
24X- EAST 79TH ST. GREEN AND BLUE LINE STATION 
RECONSTRUCTION 

VENDOR: R.L. HILUPLATFORM CONTRACTING JOINT
VENTURE

AMOUNT: NOT TO EXCEED $67,550.00 AND REINSTATEMENT OF 
GENERAL MANAGER, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 
CHANGE ORDER SIGNING AUTHORITY 

· ACTION REQUEST:

[gJ Approval □ Review, Comment □ Information Only □ Other

Resolution No.: 

2026-8

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: 

Engineering & Project 
Development 
Department 

1.0 PURPOSE, SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to increase Contract No. 2025-007, Project 24X - East 79th St. Green and Blue 
Line Station Reconstruction and reinstate the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer's 
change order signing authority. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: This change is necessary for modifications to the ADA mini­
high platform locations and to construct a small platform extension on the westbound platform 
to accommodate first train car boarding and alighting of ADA customers. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: On April 15, 2025, the Board of Trustees, by Resolution 
No. 2025-49, authorized a contract with R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting Joint Venture to perform 
construction services for the East 79th St. Green and Blue Line Station Reconstruction in the 
amount of $9,984,587.00. Change orders to date total $497,192.86, resulting in a current total 
contract amount of $10,481,779.86. 

The need to procure additional construction services will increase the cost of the contract by 
$67,550.00, which is beyond the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer's $500,000.00 
change order signing authority. Approval of the change order will result in a new contract 
amount of $10,549,329.86. This action also seeks reinstatement of the General Manager, 
Chief Executive Officer's change order signing authority in its entirety. A Change Order Log is 
attached as reference. 

This change order was reviewed and recommended by the Change Order Committee. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT: This change order shall be payable from the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grant OH-2024-011-307 in an amount not to exceed $67,550.00, for a new total contract 
amount of $10,549,329.86 

7.0 ALTERNATIVES: Reject this change order. Rejecting this change order would prevent 
completion of the project, and the Authority would not be able to use the facility for its intended 
purpose. 







RESOLUTION NO. 2026-8

AUTHORIZING AN INCREASE TO CONTRACT NO. 2025-007 WITH R.L. 
HILL/PLATFORM CONTRACTING JOINT VENTURE FOR PROJECT 24X- EAST 
79rH ST. GREEN AND BLUE LINE STATION RECONSTRUCTION IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $67,550.00 FOR A NEW TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT OF 
$10,549,329.86 AND REINSTATING THE GENERAL MANAGER, CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S CHANGE ORDER SIGNING AUTHORITY IN ITS 
ENTIRETY (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT 
DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Authority") deemed it 
necessary to procure construction services under Project 24X - East 79th St. Green and Blue 
Line Station Reconstruction; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 2025-49, the Board of Trustees authorized Contract No. 
2025-007 in the amount of $9,984,587.00 with R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting Joint Venture, 
located at 31835 Aurora Road, Solon, Ohio 44139, for the furnishing of said construction 
services; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority now requires additional construction services which are 
necessary for completion of the scope of services for Project 24X - East 79th St. Green and 
Blue Line Station Reconstruction; and 

WHEREAS, R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting Joint Venture has offered to provide these 
additional construction services at a total negotiated cost of $67,550.00, resulting in a new total 
contract amount of $10,549,329.86; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems acceptance of the 
offer of R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting Joint Venture, as negotiated, to be in the best interest of 
the Authority and recommends acceptance thereof; and 

WHEREAS, said contract increase will exceed the General Manager, Chief Executive 
Officer's $500,000.00 change order signing authority; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer is requesting the Board of 
Trustees reinstate her change order signing authority in its entirety. 

• NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 

Section 1. That the negotiated offer from R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting Joint Venture to 
provide additional construction services for Project 24X - East 79th St. Green· and Blue Line 
Station Reconstruction be and the same is hereby accepted. 

Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer of the Authority be and 
she is hereby authorized to amend Contract No. 2025-007 with R.L. Hill/Platform Contracting 
Joint Venture to include these additional construction services. 

Section 3. That this change order shall be payable from the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grant OH-2024-011-307 in an amount not to exceed $67,550.00, for a new total contract 
amount of $10,549,329.86. 



Resolution No. 2026-8
Page 2 

Section 4. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer's change order signing 
authority is reinstated in its entirety. 

Section 5. That all other terms and conditions of said contract shall remain unchanged. 

Section 6. That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted: _______ , 2026 
President 

Attest: 
-----------------

Secretary-Treasurer 



Form 
100-326
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: RED LINE STATION PLATFORM MODIFICATIONS 

VENDOR: SCHIRMER CONSTRUCTION LLC 

Resolution No.: 
2026-9

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

AMOUNT: $11, 111,000.00 Initiator: Engineering 
& Project 
Development 
Department 

ACTION REQUEST: 

l8l Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract for Project 66E1 - Red Line Station Platform Modifications. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: This project consists of modifications to 22 platforms, 
including: concrete repair and structural restoration, replacement of damaged tactile warning 
surfaces, replacement and restoration of guardrails, fabrication and installation of bracket 
assemblies, and fabrication and installation of platform edge extensions for station platforms. 
In addition, three platforms (E. 551h, Windermere, and Brookpark) will be lengthened to 
accommodate the operation of three-car trains. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Invitation for Bid ("IFB") was posted on the Authority's 
website and advertised in the local newspapers. Twenty-two (22) interested parties, including 
potential subcontractors, downloaded the solicitation. Three (3) bids were received and opened 
on December 11, 2025, as follows: 

Company Name Total Base Bid 

Schirmer Construction LLC $11,111,000.00 

Suburban Maintenance and Construction Co., Inc. $11,662,000.00 

The Great Lakes Construction Co. $12,745,000.00 

The bid from Schirmer Construction LLC ("Schirmer") has been determined by the 
Procurement Department to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder. 

A cost analysis has been performed, and the Procurement Department has determined the 
price to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. The total base bid is approximately 3.84% 
above the engineer's estimate. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-9

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-151 WITH SCHIRMER CONSTRUCTION 
LLC FOR PROJECT 66E1 -RED LINE STATION PLATFORM MODIFICATIONS 
IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $11,111,000.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT FUND, 
ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Authority") deems it 
necessary to modify twenty-two (22) Red Line Station platforms to accommodate the new railcar 
fleet; and 

WHEREAS, the bid from Schirmer Construction LLC ("Schirmer''), located at 31350 
Industrial Parkway, North Olmsted, Ohio 44070, was received on December 11, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, Schirmer has agreed to perform the required services for an amount not to 
exceed $11,111,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the bid from Schirmer 
to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder and recommends acceptance thereof 
by the Board of Trustees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 

Section 1. That the bid from Schirmer for Project 66E 1 -Red Line Station Platform 
Modifications be and the same is hereby accepted. 

Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer be and she is hereby 
authorized to enter into a contract with Schirmer for Project 66E1 - Red Line Station Platform 
Modifications. 

Section 3. That said contract shall be funded through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grants OH-2024-011-307, OH-2024-011-337, and local advance funds pending the approval of 
the FFY 2026 formula dollars, in an amount not to exceed $11,111,000.00 ($8,888,800.00 in 
federal funds which represents 80% of the cost). 

Section 4. That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, if any; the 
bonding and insurance requirements; and all applicable laws relating to contractual obligations 
of the Authority. 

Section 5. That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted: ________ _ 

Attest: _______________ _ 
Secretary-Treasurer 

President 



Form 
100-326
01-12-22

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: REPAIR OF MAIN AVENUE BROKEN RAIL 

VENDOR: RAILWORKS TRACK SERVICES, LLC 

AMOUNT: $424,924.00 

ACTION REQUEST: 

[g] Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

Resolution No.: 
2026-10

Date: 
January 15, 2025 

Initiator: Engineering 
& Project 
Development 
Department 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract for Project 558 - Repair of Main Avenue Broken Rail. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: This project consists of replacing the running rail of both 
tracks that cross Main Ave on the Waterfront Line. One of the rails has broken and is showing 
signs of corrosion due to electrolysis. Modifications to the track drainage will also be 
accomplished on the north side of the crossing to alleviate the cause of the rail electrolysis. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Invitation for Bid ("IFB") was posted on the Authority's 
Procurement Department website and advertised in the local newspapers. Nine (9) interested 
parties, including potential subcontractors, downloaded the solicitation. Three (3) bids were 
received and opened on December 11, 2025, as follows: 

Company Name Total Base Bid 

RailWorks Track Services, LLC $424,924.00 

Kennedy Railroad Services, LLC $476,469.00 

Delta Railroad Construction, Inc. $493,513.00 

The bid from RailWorks Track Services ("RailWorks") has been determined by the 
Procurement Department to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder. 

A cost analysis has been performed, and the Procurement Department has determined the 
price to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. The total base bid is approximately 2.1 % 
above the engineer's estimate. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT: This procurement shall be payable through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grants OH-2020-044-307, OH-2020-044-337, OH-2021-050-307, and OH-2021-050-337 in an 
amount not to exceed $424,924.00 ($339,939.20 in federal funds which represents 80% of the 
total cost). 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-10

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-145 WITH RAILWORKS TRACK 
SERVICES, LLC FOR PROJECT 558 - REPAIR OF MAIN AVENUE BROKEN 
RAIL IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $424,924.00 (RTA DEVELOPMENT 
FUND, ENGINEERING & PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 

WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Authority") deems it 
necessary to repair the broken rail at Main Avenue; and 

WHEREAS, the bid from RailWorks Track Services, LLC ("RailWorks"), located at 2101 
S Carpenter St., Suite 200, Chicago, Illinois 60608, was received on December 11, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, RailWorks has agreed to perform the required services for an amount not to 
exceed $424,924.00; and 

WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the bid from 
RailWorks to be the lowest responsive bid from a responsible bidder and recommends 
acceptance thereof by the Board of Trustees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 

Section 1. That the bid from RailWorks for Project 558 - Repair of Main Avenue Broken 
Rail be and the same is hereby accepted. 

Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer be and she is hereby 
authorized to enter into a contract with RailWorks for the Repair of Main Avenue Broken Rail. 

Section 3. That said contract shall be funded through the RTA Development Fund, 
Engineering & Project Development Department budget, including but not limited to Capital 
Grants OH-2020-044-307, OH-2020-044-337, OH-2021-050-307 and OH-2021-050-337; in an 
amount not to exceed $424,924.00 ($339,939.20 in federal funds which represents 80% of the 
total cost). 

Section 4. That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon compliance by the contractor to the specifications and addenda, if any; the 
bonding and insurance requirements; and all applicable laws relating to contractual obligations 
of the Authority. 

Section 5. That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted: ________ _ 
President 

Attest: _______________ _ 
Secretary-Treasurer 



326 . . 
Form 100- c Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 

STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

01-12-22

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 

CONTRACT: CONSULTING SERVICES TO UPDATE THE 
AUTHORITY'S EXISTING STRATEGIC PLAN 

VENDOR: AECOM TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. 

AMOUNT: NTE $465,000.00 

ACTION REQUEST: 

� Approval □ Review/Comment □ Information Only □ Other

Resolution No.: 
2026-11

Date: 
January 15, 2026 

Initiator: 
Programming & 
Planning Department 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: This action will allow the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
("Authority") to enter into a contract for consulting services to aid in updating the Authority's 
existing Strategic Plan. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION: The RTA Strategic Plan 2020 - Framework for the Future 
("Strategic Plan") was completed in 2019 with a 2035 horizon year. Since that time, there have 
been substantial changes in the organization, commuting patterns, and external forces 
impacting the public transit industry. Thus, the Authority seeks to update the existing plan 
through 2035. The Strategic Plan is the Authority's primary longer-range capital planning 
document and the foundation of its development efforts. Additionally, the Strategic Plan may 
be used to outline alternatives for growth, capital, and operational allocations that support 
these initiatives and identify how these efforts contribute to the transportation network of the 
region. This contract will provide the Authority with consulting services to update the Strategic 
Plan. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND: The Request for Proposals was posted on the 
Procurement Department website and advertised in the local newspapers. Five proposals were 
received on November 4, 2025 in response to this solicitation. After evaluation by a panel of 
Authority employees, in accordance with established Procurement Department policies and 
procedures and subsequent negotiations, the proposal from AECOM Technical Services, Inc. 
("AECOM"), to provide consulting services to update the Strategic Plan in an amount not to 
exceed $465,000.00, was determined to be most advantageous to the Authority. 

A price analysis was performed, and the Procurement Department determined the negotiated 
amount to be fair and reasonable to the Authority. The negotiated pricing is 7% below the 
estimate for this purchase. 

4.0 DBE BACKGROUND: As a result of the USDOT Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register and made effective October 3, 2025, DBE goal-setting has been suspended on 
Authority projects until further notice. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT: Does not apply. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT: This procurement will be funded through the Development Fund, 
Programming & Planning Department budget, including, but not limited to, local advance funds 
pending the approval of the FFY 2026 Federal Formula Grant in an amount not to exceed 
$465,000.00. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2026-11 
 
AUTHORIZING CONTRACT NO. 2025-136 WITH AECOM TECHNICAL 
SERVICES, INC. TO PROVIDE CONSULTING SERVICES TO UPDATE THE 
AUTHORITY’S EXISTING STRATEGIC PLAN IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$465,000.00 (DEVELOPMENT FUND, PROGRAMMING & PLANNING 
DEPARTMENT BUDGET) 
 

 WHEREAS, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“Authority”) has the need 
to obtain consulting services from a qualified firm to assist in updating the RTA Strategic Plan 
2020 - Framework for the Future (“Strategic Plan”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposal from AECOM Technical Services, Inc. (“AECOM”), located at 
1300 East 9th Street, Suite 500 Cleveland, OH 44114, to provide consulting services to update 
the Authority’s Strategic Plan was received on November 4, 2025; and 

 
WHEREAS, after negotiations, AECOM has offered to provide the services for an amount 

not to exceed $465,000.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer deems the negotiated offer of 

AECOM to be in the best interest of the Authority, price and other factors considered, and 
recommends acceptance thereof by the Board of Trustees. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 
 Section 1.  That the offer of AECOM to provide consulting services to update the 
Authority’s Strategic Plan for an amount not to exceed $465,000.00 is hereby accepted.  
 
 Section 2.  That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer of the Authority be and she 
is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with AECOM to provide consulting services to update 
the Authority’s Strategic Plan. 
 
 Section 3.  That this contract shall be payable from the Development Fund, Programming 
& Planning Department budget, including, but not limited to, local advance funds pending the 
approval of the FFY 2026 Federal Formula Grant in an amount not to exceed $465,000.00. 
 

Section 4.  That said contract shall be binding upon and an obligation of the Authority 
contingent upon future funding, compliance by the contractor with the specifications and addenda, 
if any; bonding and insurance requirements and all applicable laws relating to contractual 
obligations of the Authority. 
 

Section 5.  That this resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
 
Adopted: ________________________             ___________________________________ 
                President 
 
 
Attest: _____________________________________ 
                             Secretary-Treasurer    
 



Form 
100-326 
01-12-22  

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
STAFF SUMMARY AND COMMENTS 

 

   
 

TITLE/DESCRIPTION: 
 
APPROVING THE 2026 TITLE VI PROGRAM UPDATE FOR 
SUBMISSION TO THE FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION 
 

Resolution No.: 
2026-12 

 Date: 
 January 15, 2026 

Initiator: 
Administration & External 
Affairs/Office of Equal 
Opportunity 

ACTION REQUEST: 
  Approval �  Review/Comment �  Information Only �  Other _______________________ 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE:  This action will approve the 2026 Title VI Program Update for submission 
to the Federal Transit Administration (“FTA”), as required by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. 

2.0 DESCRIPTION/JUSTIFICATION:  Every three years, the GCRTA staff prepares a Title VI 
Program Update and submits it to FTA.  GCRTA’s current Title VI Program expires in March 
2026. The 2026 Title VI Program Update is due to FTA by February 1, 2026.  

FTA Circular 4702.1B requires each Title VI Program Update to be reviewed and approved by 
the transit agency’s governing body before it is submitted to FTA.  Accordingly, staff is 
requesting a resolution from the Board of Trustees indicating that the Board has reviewed and 
approved the 2026 Title VI Program Update to be submitted to FTA.  

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND:  Does not apply. 

4.0 DBE/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION BACKGROUND:  Does not apply. 

5.0 POLICY IMPACT:  Adoption of the resolution will enable GCRTA to comply with federal 
guidelines implementing Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

6.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT:  Failure to adopt the resolution may result in a finding by FTA of non-
compliance with FTA Circular 4702.1B and the imposition of sanctions, including a refusal by 
FTA to approve grants. 

7.0 ALTERNATIVES:  Not adopting the resolution would impact and delay the approval of federal 
grants. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION:  On January 6, 2026, the Operational Planning & Infrastructure 
Committee reviewed and discussed the 2026 Title VI Program Update and referred it to the full 
Board.  It is recommended that the resolution be approved, authorizing the General Manager, 
Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Civil Rights Officer to submit the 2026 Title VI Program 
Update to the FTA. 

 
Recommended and certified as appropriate to the availability 
of funds, legal form, and conformance with the Procurement 
requirements. 

 
______________________________________________ 

      General Manager, Chief Executive Officer 



RESOLUTION NO. 2026-12 
 

APPROVING THE 2026 TITLE VI PROGRAM UPDATE FOR SUBMITTAL TO 
THE FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has been granted the power and authority, pursuant 
to Chapter 306 of the Ohio Revised Code, to manage and conduct the affairs of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority (“GCRTA”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 requires GCRTA and all recipients of 
federal financial assistance to operate their programs and services in a nondiscriminatory 
manner without regard to race, color, or national origin; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Federal Transit Administration (“FTA”) issued Circular 4702.1B 
(“Circular”), effective October 1, 2012, setting forth requirements and guidelines for Title VI 
compliance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, as outlined in the Circular, the GCRTA Board of Trustees is required to 
review and approve a Title VI Program Update for submittal to FTA every three years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the draft Title VI Program Update was provided to all GCRTA Board 
members on January 15, 2026; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on January 6, 2026, GCRTA’s Operational Planning & Infrastructure 
Committee considered the draft Title VI Program Update and recommended it to the full Board 
of Trustees. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Greater 
Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, Cuyahoga County, Ohio: 
 

Section 1.  That the 2026 Title VI Program Update, which is substantially in the form of 
the attachment hereto, has been reviewed and is approved.  

 
Section 2. That the General Manager, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Civil Rights 

Officer is hereby authorized to submit the update to FTA. 
 
Section 3.  That this resolution shall be effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 

Attachment: 2026 Title VI Program Update 
 
 
Adopted: January 20, 2026    ___________________________________  
         President 
 
 
 
Attest:                                                                        
       Secretary-Treasurer  



  



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 2 

 
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 4 

What Is Title VI? ............................................................................................................................................. 5 
Who Is Responsible for Ensuring Title VI Is Implemented? ............................................................................ 5 

Chapter 2: THE GENERAL REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................. 7 
Title VI Public Notice ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
Title VI Complaint Procedures ........................................................................................................................ 7 
Title VI Complaint Form ............................................................................................................................... 10 
List of Transit-Related Title VI Investigations, Complaints, and Lawsuits ..................................................... 13 
Meaningful Access to LEP Persons - Language Assistance Plan ................................................................ 14 

Four Factor Analysis ................................................................................................................................. 14 
Public Participation Plan .............................................................................................................................. 31 

Summary of Outreach Activities Since Last Title VI Submission ............................................................... 31 
Title VI Compliance for Subrecipients .......................................................................................................... 33 
Participation in Non-Elected Committees and Councils ................................................................................ 33 
Determination of Site or Location of Facilities .............................................................................................. 34 
Title VI Program Board Meeting Policy Decision Documentation ................................................................. 34 

Chapter 3: FIXED ROUTE TRANSIT PROVIDER REQUIREMENTS .............................................................. 34 
Demographic and Service Profile Maps and Charts ..................................................................................... 35 
Requirement to Set Service Standards and Policies .................................................................................... 35 
Assessment of Compliance .......................................................................................................................... 35 
Other Areas of Title VI Considerations ......................................................................................................... 36 
Meaningful Access to LEP Persons ............................................................................................................. 37 
Please reference the Meaningful Access to LEP Persons – Language Assistance Plan section above in 
Chapter 2 for more detailed information. Monitoring Procedures for Transit Providers ................................. 37 

Requirement for Transit Providers ............................................................................................................ 37 
Level of Service Methodology ................................................................................................................... 37 

• Vehicle Load ................................................................................................................................ 37 

• Vehicle Assignment ...................................................................................................................... 39 

• Vehicle Headway.......................................................................................................................... 39 

• On-Time Performance .................................................................................................................. 40 

• Distribution of Transit Amenities ................................................................................................... 40 

• Service Availability ....................................................................................................................... 40 

• Service Quality Supervisory Work Zones ..................................................................................... 40 

Service and Fare Equity Analysis ................................................................................................................. 40 
Attachments for Chapter 3 ........................................................................................................................... 42 

Chapter 4: TITLE VI PROGRAM ATTACHMENTS .................................................................................. 122 



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 3 

Attachment A: Notice to the Public in English and Spanish – Title VI Signage ........................................... 122 
Attachment B: Determination of Site or Location of Facilities ..................................................................... 134 

Attachment C: The Title VI Board Presentation .......................................................................................... 134 
Attachment D: GCRTA Board Resolution 2026 .......................................................................................... 135 
Attachment E: Staff Summary & Comments ............................................................................................... 136 
Attachment F: Board Meeting Minutes ....................................................................................................... 137 
 

  



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 4 

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION 

The U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration (FTA), has implemented guidelines 
governing applicants, recipients, and subrecipients of federal assistance regarding Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964. Specifically, these requirements dictate that the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
(hereinafter the Authority or GCRTA) must ensure that no person, on the grounds of race, color, or national 
origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any 
program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.  

GCRTA is committed to providing equal opportunity for employees, vendors, and customers, and to complying 
with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations of the treatment of minorities, women, 
individuals with disabilities, and veterans in all facets of the Authority’s activities. GCRTA is equally committed 
to: 

• Ensuring any federally funded transit-related benefits and services are made available and are 
equitably distributed without regard to race, color, or national origin. 

• Ensuring that the level and quality of transit services provide equal access and mobility for any person 
without regard to race, color, or national origin. 

• Ensuring that opportunities to participate in the transit planning and decision-making processes are 
provided to people without regard to race, color, or national origin. 

• Ensuring that decisions on the location of transit services and facilities are made without regard to race, 
color, or national origin. 

• Ensuring that corrective and remedial action is taken to prevent discriminatory treatment of any 
beneficiary based on race, color, or national origin. 

The U.S. Department of Transportation, FTA, Region V, received the Authority’s 2023 Title VI Program 
Update. The 2023 Title VI Program expires on March 1, 2026 and the 2026 Title VI Update is due on February 
1, 2026. These Program Updates must comply with the requirements outlined in Circular 4702.1B, dated 
October 1, 2012. 

  



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 5 

What Is Title VI? 

Title VI was enacted as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

 

 

 

 

 

FTA Circular 4702.1B provides guidance and instructions for ensuring that the level and quality of public 
transportation service is provided in a nondiscriminatory manner; promoting full and fair participation in public 
transportation decision-making without regard to race, color, or national origin; and ensuring meaningful 
access to transit-related programs and activities by persons with limited English proficiency.   

What Does This Mean For GCRTA? 
GCRTA, as a recipient of federal financial assistance through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), is 
required to prepare a Title VI program update every three years.  

GCRTA will ensure full compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, and related 
statutes and regulations in all GCRTA programs and activities. Regarding Title VI, GCRTA is equally 
committed to ensuring that: 

• The benefits of its bus and rail services are shared equitably throughout the service area. 

• The level and quality of bus and rail services are sufficient to provide equal access to all riders in its 
service area. 

• No one is precluded from participating in GCRTA’s service planning and development process. 

• Decisions regarding service changes or facility locations are made without regard to race, color, or 
national origin, and that development and urban renewal plans benefit the community. 

• A program is in place for correcting any discrimination under Title VI. 

 

Who Is Responsible for Ensuring Title VI Is Implemented? 
The Board of Trustees, General Manager, Chief Civil Rights Officer, management, and all employees share 
the responsibility for carrying out GCRTA's commitment to Title VI.  

The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture is responsible for the day-to-day operation of 
the program as it relates to complaints and coordinating efforts. The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and 
Organizational Culture works with a Title VI team to ensure equal protection of the law as it relates to services 
and programs provided by GCRTA.  

The current Title VI Team consists of the following: 

• Felicia Brooks-Williams, Senior Manager, OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture 

• Joel Freilich, Director of Service Management 

• Sharon Jenkins, Director of Marketing & Communications 

• Maribeth Feke, Director of Programming & Planning 

 

“No person shall, on the grounds of race, color, or national 
origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits 

of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 
activity receiving federal assistance.” 

-Civil Rights Act of 1964 

 

 
    



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 6 

To ensure that GCRTA continues to comply with all the requirements outlined in Circular 4702.1B, the Senior 
Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture will report quarterly to the Civil Rights (CR) Committee. 
The CR Committee provides an opportunity to update the GM and Executive Team on all civil rights functions. 
The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture provides an update on Title VI, Title VII, and 
the ADA. In addition, the GM receives updates on Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)*, Human 
Resources (HR) Recruitment and Training efforts, and legal matters. The agenda includes formal and informal 
personnel practices to ensure equal treatment; making recommendations to the GM for modifications of 
GCRTA’s policies and practices to enhance equal opportunity efforts; reviewing quarterly department/division 
reports on goals and timetables and recommending approval; and reporting on Title VI Updates. 

The GCRTA Board of Trustees must also approve GCRTA’s Title VI program before it submits it to FTA.  

 

*Currently, the DBE program is being updated by federal regulations and GCRTA is not setting DBE goals on 
contracts. Updates will continue to be provided to the CR Committee as more guidance is released on the DBE 
program. 

  



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 7 

Chapter 2: THE GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

FTA requires that a Title VI Program be submitted in accordance with the FTA as part of its Title VI Program. 

The General Requirements section of this update contains Title VI Program components required by FTA 
Circular 4702.1B. This section includes the following information: 

1. Title VI Public Notice 
2. Title VI Complaint Procedures 
3. Title VI Complaint Form 

4. List of Transit-Related Title VI Investigations, Complaints, and Lawsuits 
5. Meaningful Access to Limited English Proficient (LEP) Persons 
6. Public Participation Plan 
7. Title VI Compliance for Subrecipients 
8. Participation in Non-Elected Committees and Councils 
9. Determination of Site or Location of Facilities 

Title VI Public Notice 

In accordance with Title VI, GCRTA displays a public notice to inform customers of their rights under Title VI. 
The notice is posted on GCRTA’s website, RideRTA.com. The notice is also displayed in all GCRTA’s transit 
vehicles (buses and rail cars), and transit facilities, such as the main office customer service area and transit 
stations. 

See Chapter 4, Attachment A for the Title VI signage in both English and Spanish. 

Title VI Complaint Procedures 

This section outlines GCRTA’s Title VI complaint procedures related to providing programs, services, and 
benefits. However, it does not deny the complainant the right to file formal complaints with the Ohio Civil Rights 
Commission, and/or the FTA’s Office of Civil Rights. These complaint procedures also do not prohibit a 
complainant from seeking private legal counsel for complaints alleging discrimination, intimidation, or retaliation 
of any kind that are prohibited by law. 

GCRTA’s complaint procedures are set forth below: 

General 

Any person who believes that he or she, individually, or as a member of any specific class of persons, has 
been subjected to discrimination based on race, color, or national origin as noted below may file a written 
complaint with the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority’s Office of Equal Opportunity, 1240 W. 6th 
Street, 6th Floor, Cleveland, Ohio 44113. Complainants have the right to complain directly to the appropriate 
federal or state agency. Every effort will be made to obtain an early resolution of complaints. The option of 
informal meeting(s) between the affected parties and the Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational 
Culture, or and OEO Specialist may be utilized for resolutions. The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and 
Organizational Culture will notify the Chief Civil Rights Officer of all the Title VI complaints and resolutions. 

Procedure 

1. The complaint must meet the following requirements: 
a. Be in writing and signed by the complainant(s). In cases where the Complainant is unable or 

incapable of providing a written statement, a verbal complaint may be made. The Senior 
Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture, or OEO Designee will interview the 



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 8 

Complainant and assist the person in converting verbal complaints into writing. All complaints 
must, however, be signed by the Complainant or his/her representative. 

b. Include the date of the alleged act of discrimination, the date when the Complainant became 
aware of the alleged act of discrimination, or the date on which that conduct was discontinued or 
the latest instance of conduct. 

c. Present a detailed description of the issues, including names and job titles of those individuals 
perceived as parties to the complaint. 

d. Federal and state law requires complaints to be filed within 180 calendar days of the alleged 
incident. 

2. Upon receipt of the complaint, the Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture, or OEO 
Designee will determine its jurisdiction, acceptability, and need for additional information, as well as 
investigate the merits of the complaint. 

3. The Complainant will be provided with a written acknowledgement that GCRTA has either accepted or 
rejected the complaint. 

4. A complaint must meet the following criteria for acceptance: 
a. The allegation must involve a covered basis such as race, color, national origin, age, sex, 

religion, or disability. 
b. The allegation must involve a service provided by GCRTA, sub-recipient, or contractor. 

5. A complaint may be dismissed for the following reasons: 
a. The Complainant requests the withdrawal of the complaint. 
b. The Complainant fails to respond to repeated requests for additional information needed to 

process the complaint. 
c. The Complainant cannot be located after reasonable attempts. 

6. Once GCRTA’s Office of Equal Opportunity decides to accept the complaint for investigation, the 
Complainant will be notified in writing of such determination. The complaint will receive a case number 
and will then be logged in a database identifying the Complainant’s name, basis, alleged harm, race, 
color, and national origin. 

7. In cases where GCRTA’s Office of Equal Opportunity assumes the investigation of the complaint, within 
90 calendar days of the acceptance of the complaint, the Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and 
Organizational Culture will prepare an investigative report for the file. The report shall include a 
narrative description of the incident, identification of persons interviewed, findings, and 
recommendations for disposition. 

8. The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture will decide on the disposition of the 
complaint. Dispositions will be stated as follows: 

a. In the event GCRTA is in noncompliance with Title VI regulations or there is enough evidence to 
substantiate the allegation, a stakeholders’ meeting is conducted. A stakeholders meeting 
includes all the managers and executives that may be involved in a resolution or disciplinary 
action. 

9. Notice of the Senior Manager of OEO, ADA and Organizational Culture determination will be mailed to 
the Complainant. Notice shall include information regarding appeal rights of Complainant and 
instructions for initiating such appeal. Notice of appeals are as follows: 

a. GCRTA will reconsider the determination if new facts come to light. 
b. If the Complainant is dissatisfied with the determination and/or resolution set forth by GCRTA, 

the same complaint may be submitted to the FTA for investigation. Complainants will be advised 
to contact the:   
Office of Civil Rights, 
Federal Transit Administration, 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE, 
Washington, DC 20590, 
Phone: 888-446-4511  
 

10. A copy of the complaint and GCRTA’s investigation report/letter of finding and Final Remedial Action 
Plan, if appropriate, will be issued to FTA within 120 days of the receipt of the complaint. 

11. A summary of the complaint and its resolution will be included as part of the Title VI updates to the 
FTA.  

tel:888-446-4511


 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 9 

Recordkeeping Requirement 

The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational Culture will ensure that all records relating to GCRTA’s 
Title VI Complaint Process are maintained within the Office of Equal Opportunity. Records will be available for 
compliance review audits. 

  



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 10 

Title VI Complaint Form 

  
  
GCRTA is committed to ensuring that no person is excluded from participation in or denied the benefits of its 
services based on race, color or nation origin, disability, age, religion, gender, and veteran status. All 
complaints must be filed within 180 days from the date of the alleged discrimination.  

The following information is necessary to assist us in processing your complaint. If you require assistance in 
completing this form, please contact the Office of Equal Opportunity by calling (216) 356-3085. The completed 
form must be returned to: GCRTA Office of Equal Opportunity, ADA & Organizational Culture, Senior Manager 
of Office of Equal Opportunity, 1240 West Sixth Street, Cleveland, OH 44113-1302. 

Section I: 

Today’s Date: __________________________ 
Your Name: 
 
Home Address: 
 
City, State & Zip Code: 
 
Telephone No.: 
 

Email Address: 
 

Accessible Format Requirements? ❑ Large Print  ❑ Audio Tape  ❑ Braille  ❑ TDD  ❑ Other  

Section II: 

Law prohibits discrimination based on the categories shown below. Check those categories, which you feel 
apply to the discrimination you experienced. 

❑ Age …………………. Age 40 or over 
❑ Color.………………. Color of skin, including shade of skin within group 
❑ Disability …………… Physical or mental disability 
❑ Sex ………….……… Male or female, masculine or feminine, gender identity and pregnancy 
❑ National Origin ……. National birth site – may also include person’s language, accent, or race 
❑    Race …….………... Belonging to a GCRTA in race or because of GCRTA in characteristics 

associated with race 
❑ Religion ……………. Religious/Spiritual beliefs 
❑ Retaliation …………. Retaliation for filing a discrimination complaint or for opposing illegal 

discriminatory practices 
❑ Sexual Harassment. Unsolicited and/or unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and 

other verbal or physical harassment of a sexual nature 
❑ Sexual Orientation....  Perceived by others to be in or identified with heterosexuality, homosexuality, 

bisexuality, etc. 
❑ Veteran Status …….  Service in the Armed Forces 

Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority 
Civil Rights Complaint Form 



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 11 

Section III: 

Name of the person(s) responsible for the harm you feel you 
suffered: 

Job Title(s) and/or ID Number: 

Location(s) of the occurrence(s): 

 

Route No. and/or Bus No.: 

Date(s) and time(s) of the occurrence(s): Direction: Eastbound or Westbound 

Brief description of the person(s) (i.e. gender, race, height, etc.): 

 

Section IV: 

What type of harm or discriminatory action was taken against you?  

 ❑ Accommodation  ❑ Hostile environment   ❑  Service   ❑  Other 

If “Other,” please specify: 

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Section VI: 

Describe the harm you feel you suffered and how the person(s) you named above are responsible. 

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Did anyone witness the harm or discrimination you suffered? ❑ No   ❑ Yes  

If “Yes,” please indicate who and what they witnessed. 

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________ 



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 12 

Section VI: 

What remedy would you like GCRTA to consider? 

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Section VII: 

Have you filed this complaint with any other federal, state, or local agency or with any federal or state court? 

❑ No   ❑ Yes 

If yes, please provide the contact information at the agency/court where the complaint was filed. 

Agency: Contact Name: 

Address: Telephone Number: 

City, State & Zip Code: 

 

Have you previously filed a Title VI complaint with GCRTA? ❑ No   ❑ Yes 

If yes, please describe the complaint. 

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Please attach any written material or other information that you think is relevant to your complaint. 

 

I affirm that the information contained in this document is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, 
information and belief. 

 

Complainant’s Signature: ________________________________ Date: _________________ 

 

Please mail this form to:  GCRTA Office of Equal Opportunity 
Senior Manager of the Office of Equal Opportunity 

1240 West 6th Street 
Cleveland, Ohio 44113-1302 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 13 

List of Transit-Related Title VI Investigations, Complaints, and Lawsuits  

GCRTA maintains a list of active investigations conducted internally by the Office of Equal Opportunity or 
externally by FTA and entitles other than FTA, including lawsuits and complaints that alleged discrimination 
based on race, color, or national origin. This list includes the date that the transit-related Title VI investigation, 
lawsuit, or complaint was filed; a summary of the allegation(s); the status of the investigation, lawsuit, or 
complaint; and actions taken by GCRTA in response, or final findings related to the investigation, lawsuit, or 
complaint. There were no transit-related Title VI lawsuits filed against GCRTA from 2023-2025..  

Please see the attached list of internal and external complaints from 2023 – 2025 that included Title VI 
allegations. The list of complaints covers the three years prior to 2026:   

Title VI Complaints 2023-2025 
 
 

Claim 
Number 

Regarding Date 
Complaint 
Received 

Allegation(s) Current 
Status/ 
Disposition 

Other 
Detail 

Date Resolved/ 
Closed 

2023-05-
01 

Customer 
Complaint 

4/27/2023 Discrimination 
based on 
national origin 

Unsubstantiat
ed 

Closed 6/6/2023 

2024-10-
05 

Customer 
Complaint 

10/29/2024 Age, color, sex, 
race, and 
retaliation 
discrimination 

Unsubstantiat
ed 

Closed 11/22/2024 

2024-12-
01 

Customer 
Complaint 

12/9/2024 Discrimination 
for disability, 
sex, race, and 
sexual 
harassment 

Closed Lack 
of 
inform
ation 

12/22/2024 

2025-06-
05 

Customer 
Complaint 

6/24/2025 Gender, age, 
and race 
discrimination 

Unsubstantiat
ed 

Closed 7/9/2025 

 
 

Title VI External Complaints 2023-2025 
Agency Claims Number Allegation Disposition 
OCRC TOLG4(48848)05102023 Disability, Age, Race 

Discrimination 
Dismissed 

OCRC CLEG4(006579)04232024 Race and Age 
Discrimination and 

Retaliation 

Dismissed 

OCRC CLEG4(006718)05012024 Race, Age, Sex, National 
Origin, Retaliation, and 
Disability Discrimination 

Administratively Closed and 
Dismissed 

OCRC CLEG4(009489)09302024 Race, Sex, Religion, and 
Retaliation 

Dismissed 

 

 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 14 
 

Meaningful Access to LEP Persons - Language Assistance Plan 

GCRTA’s Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Plan has been prepared to address the 
responsibilities that GCRTA has as a recipient of federal financial assistance as they relate to the 
needs of national-origin minority individuals with limited English proficiency language skills. The 
LEP Plan has been prepared in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 
2000d, et seq., and its implementing regulations, which state that no person shall be subjected to 
discrimination based on race, color, or national origin. 

 As a federal funding recipient from FTA, GCRTA is required to take reasonable steps to ensure 
meaningful access to benefits, services, information, and other important portions of GCRTA’s 
programs and activities for LEP individuals. GCRTA has developed this LEP Plan to help identify 
reasonable steps for providing language assistance to persons with Limited English Proficiency 
(LEP) who wish to access services. LEP persons are those who do not speak English as their 
primary language and have limited ability to read, speak, write, or understand English. This LEP 
Plan outlines how to identify a person who may need language assistance, the ways in which 
assistance may be provided, staff training that may be required, and how to notify LEP persons 
that assistance is available. The LEP Plan follows the four-factor framework outlined in the 
Department of Transportation’s Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients’ Responsibilities to 
Limited English Proficient Persons, 70 Fed. Reg. 74087-74100 (Dec. 14, 2005). 

Four Factor Analysis 

 

1.0 FACTOR 1 – THE NUMBER OR PROPORTION OF LEP INDIVIDUALS ELIGIBLE TO 
BE SERVED OR LIKELY TO BE ENCOUNTERED BY A GCRTA PROGRAM, 
ACTIVITY, OR SERVICE  

GCRTA staff interaction with customers of LEP varies depending on department and function of 
the employee. The following have been identified as the most probable locations:  

• Customer Call Center (Community Connection Line) 

• Paratransit Reservation Center 

• Paratransit Customer Registration (Disabled/Senior Transportation) 

• Transit Police  

• Public meetings 

• Hiring events 

• GCRTA’s buses, trains, paratransit service, and transit stations. 

1.1 Census Data 

Data from the U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey (ACS) identifies English 
language proficiency of people based on the language spoken at home. 

Table A compares the percent of the population who speak English less than very well (qualified 
as LEP) across different geographies and time periods. Cuyahoga County is the GCRTA service 
area, the data for the state of Ohio and United States is included for comparison. 



 

 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 15 

 

Table A: Population that Speaks English less than "Very Well" 
Percent of Population 5 Years or Older  

Speaks English 
Less than Very 

Well  
2000  2010  2020  2023  

United States  8.10%  8.70%  8.20%  8.40% 
Ohio  2.20%  2.30%  2.50%  2.80% 

Cuyahoga County  3.20%  4.10%  4.30%  4.30% 
Data Source: DP02, 2023: ACS 5-Year Estimates 

 

Within Cuyahoga County, 4.3% of the population reported having less than “very well” English 
speaking ability, qualifying them as LEP. This is GCRTA’s service area boundary and includes 59 
municipalities.  

The LEP population that speaks English as a second language in Cuyahoga County represent a 
variety of language groups.  

 

1.1.1 Cuyahoga County Overview 

GCRTA provides transit service throughout Cuyahoga County. According to the 2019-2023 
ACS 5-Year Estimates, Cuyahoga County’s population 5 years or older is 1,181,236. Of that, 
12.35% speak a language other than English and 4.34% speak English less than “very well.” 
Table B gives an overview of the language groups spoken at home in the GCRTA service 
area and Table C displays the percentage change in LEP populations since the last Title VI 
reporting period.  

Table B: Cuyahoga County Population Language Demographics 
Cuyahoga County, Ohio 2019-2023 ACS 5-Year Estimates  

  Total  Percent  
Population 5 years 

and over  
1,181,236   

English only  1,035,403 87.65% 
Language other than 

English  
145,833 12.35% 

Speak English less than 
“very well”  

51,239 4.34% 

Spanish  52,900 4.48% 
Speak English less than 

“very well”  
18,849 1.60% 

Other Indo-European 
Languages  

51,691 4.38% 



 

 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 16 

 

Speak English less than 
“very well”  

17,964 1.52% 

Asian and Pacific 
Islander Languages  

20,323 1.72% 

Speak English less than 
“very well”  

7,825 0.66% 

Other Languages  20,919 1.77% 
Speak English less than 

“very well”  
6,601 0.56% 

Data Source: DP02, 2023: ACS 5-Year Estimates 
 

Table C: Cuyahoga County Change in LEP Individuals 
Cuyahoga County, Ohio 2019 -2023 ACS 5-Year 

Estimates  
Cuyahoga County, 

2016-2020 ACS  
Percent 
Change  

 Total  Percent  Total  Percent  

Population 5 
years and over  

1181236   1170634    0.9% 

English only  1035403 87.7% 1028266  87.8%  0.7% 
Language other 

than English  
145833 12.3% 142368  12.2%  2.4% 

Speak English less 
than "very well"  51239 4.3% 49,815  4.3%  2.9% 

Spanish  52900 4.5% 50,772  4.3%  4.2% 
Speak English less 

than "very well"  18849 1.6% 17,328  1.5%  8.8% 

Other Indo-
European 
languages  

51691 4.4% 52,318  4.5%  -1.2% 

Speak English less 
than "very well"  

17964 1.5% 17,938  1.5%  0.1% 

Asian and 
Pacific Islander 

languages  
20323 1.7% 20,582  1.8%  -1.3% 

Speak English less 
than "very well"  

7825 0.7% 8,499  0.7%  -8% 

Other languages  20919 1.8% 18,696  1.6%  11.9% 
Speak English less 

than "very well"  6601 0.6% 6,050  0.5%  9.1% 

Data Source: DP02, 2023: ACS 5-Year Estimates 
 

 



 

 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 17 

 

The population of Cuyahoga County has slightly increased, with non-English speaker population 
growth outpacing English-only speaker population growth. This has increased the number of 
individuals who speak English less than “very well,” a metric that has grown more than general 
population and the general population that speaks a language other than English. The largest 
growth category is in the population of “Other languages” speakers who speak English less than 
“very well” (9.1%). The largest decrease was in the population of Asian language speakers who 
speak English less than “very well” (-8%).  

 

Table D: Population and Percent of LEP by Language 
Cuyahoga County, Total Population = 1,181,236 

Language  
Estimated LEP 

Population  % of LEP Population  % of Total Population  
Spanish  18849 36.8% 1.6% 
Chinese  3959 7.7% 0.3% 

French, Haitian, or 
Cajun 1394 2.7% 0.1% 

German or other West 
Germanic languages 891 1.7% 0.1% 

Russian, Polish, or other 
Slavic languages 8106 15.8% 0.7% 

Other Indo-European 
languages 7573 14.8% 0.6% 

Korean  471 0.9% 0.0% 
Vietnamese  907 1.8% 0.1% 

Tagalog  776 1.5% 0.1% 
Other Asian and Asian 

Pacific languages  1712 3.3% 0.1% 
Arabic 4215 8.2% 0.4% 

Other and unspecified 
languages  2386 4.7% 0.2% 

Data Source: C16001, 2023: ACS 5-Year Estimates 
 

1.1.2 Map Analysis  

Geographic locations for LEP individuals by language is shown on Figures 1 through 5, below. 
This highlights locations where LEP individuals might interact with the GCRTA system. ACS 
2019-2023 5-Year estimates were used to produce these maps. This dataset is from an ongoing 
survey that provides vital information on individuals and households annually. 2023 ACS data is 
the most recent complete dataset. It is best practice to use 5-Year estimates for accuracy at the 
census tract level, as was used in this analysis. Maps have been created for the following 
language groups:  

1. All LEP Speakers  



 

 
GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 18 

 

2. Spanish Language LEP Speakers 
3. Indo-European Language LEP Speakers  
4. Asian Language LEP Speakers  
5. Other Language LEP Speakers

 
Spanish Speakers include: 
• Spanish or Spanish Creole 
Indo-European Speakers include: 
• French, including Patois,  
 Cajun 
• French, Creole 
• Italian 
• Portuguese or Portuguese Creole 
• German 
• Yiddish 
• Other West Germanic 
 languages 
• Scandinavian Languages 
• Greek 
• Russian 
• Polish 
• Serbo-Croatian 
• Other Slavic Languages 
• Armenian 
• Persian 
• Gujarati 
• Hindi 
• Urdu 
• Other Indo-European  
Languages 

Asian Speakers include: 
• Chinese 
• Japanese 
• Korean 
• Mon-Khmer 
 
• Hmong 
• Thai 
• Laotian 

• Vietnamese 
  
Other Asian Languages 
• Tagalog 
• Other Pacific Island Languages 

   
Other Language Speakers include:  

• Navajo 
• Other Native North American 

Languages 
• Hungarian 
• Arabic 
• Hebrew 
• African Languages 
• Other Specified Languages 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 19 
 

Figure 1 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 20 
 

Figure 2 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 21 
 

 

Figure 3 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 22 
 

Figure 4 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 23 
 

Figure 5 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 24 
 

 

 

Summarizing the map information:  

• The City of Cleveland is where the largest percentage of LEP individuals live in 
the GCRTA service area.  

• There is a dense concentration of Spanish LEP Speakers on the west side of the 
City of Cleveland.  

• Indo-European LEP Speakers have a high concentration in the southern portion 
of the County.  

• Asian and Pacific Islander LEP Speakers are located throughout Cuyahoga 
County and represent a smaller % of the LEP population overall.  

• “Other Language” LEPs are concentrated in the far-west side of the City of 
Cleveland and western suburbs. 

 

2.0 FACTOR 2 – THE FREQUENCY WITH WHICH LEP PERSONS COME IN 
CONTACT WITH GCRTA PROGRAMS, ACTIVITIES OR SERVICES  

GCRTA provides fixed route bus, rail, bus rapid transit, and demand response 
(Paratransit) services. Various facilities and vehicles provide these services, which 
requires GCRTA to have community interaction, including operator communication, 
dispatch services, transit police interaction, and ADA processing.  

LEP encounters are not collected. However, GCRTA has several public outreach groups 
that may discuss events related to LEP individuals and determine possible solutions. 
These groups include the GCRTA Community Advisory Committee and the GCRTA 
ADA Council. 

2.1 LEP Encounters 

ACS 2023 datasets for workers aged 16 years and older provided data for travel to work 
by language proficiency. Table E displays these results. Overall, only 3.3% of the 
population use public transit as a means of transportation to work and 3.9% of the total 
working population 16 years or older speak English less than “very well”. The LEP 
population reports transit as their means of transportation to work at a higher rate than 
the general population, (3.3% vs. 4.10%).  

 

  



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 25 
 

Table E: LEP populations means of transportation to work (16 years and older) 

Label Total Car, truck, or 
van – rode 

alone 

Car, truck or 
van – car-

pooled 

Public 
transportation 

(excluding 
taxicab)  

 Estimate  Estimate Estimate Estimate 
Workers 16 

years and over 593,409 71.7% 7.2% 3.3% 

Speak 
language other 

than English 
74,176 12.1% 19.6% 11.2% 

Speak English 
less than "very 

well" 
23,142 3.8% 8.7% 4.1% 

Data Source: S0802, 2023: ACS 5-Year Estimates  

GCRTA has several key programs and major points of contact with the public that LEP 
individuals may use. The following describe customer service interactions and 
opportunities for LEP outreach.  

2.1.1 Customer Call Center 

The GCRTA Customer Call Center (Community Connection Line) provides 
information for general callers on GCRTA services. It is located within the Main 
Office Building. The Call Center tracks requests for Spanish-speaking assistance. 
GCRTA has two bilingual representatives in the Call Center to help anyone who 
requires Spanish language assistance. The following identifies the number of calls 
requesting Spanish language over the last three years. 

 

Year Number of Calls Percentage 
2023 258 .01 
2024 313 .02 
2025 (to date) 280 .02 

 

2.1.2 Paratransit Reservation Center 

The Paratransit reservation center does not track requests for assistance in 
arranging trips in other languages. The primary language barrier is Spanish, which is 
handled by a full-time Spanish-speaking reservationist. LEP individuals are not 
common, averaging four cases a month. The Paratransit reservation center is 
located at the Paratransit District Garage and not within the Main Office Building.  

2.1.3 Paratransit Customer Registration (Disabled/Senior Transportation), ADA 
Office 

The Paratransit registration is located within the Main Office Building. It screens and 
registers individuals for reduced fares under GCRTA’s Paratransit service program. 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 26 
 

Assistance from the Call Center bilingual employees is needed roughly six to eight 
times a week.  

2.1.4 Transit Police 

Transit Police officers occasionally interact with LEP individuals. In the event 
interpretation is needed, a Spanish-speaking Transit Police officer, Spanish-speaking 
GCRTA employee, or another Spanish-speaking first responder has been available 
to assist. Currently, there is also an officer fluent in German. In 2023, GCRTA added 
four Crisis Intervention Specialists to the Transit Police personnel. These employees 
are trained social workers and accompany Transit Police officers to assist GCRTA 
customers requiring special assistance. . The Crisis Intervention Specialists utilize 
tablets with internet access and are able to access online audio Google Translate 
services with language detection if needed. 2.1.5 Board Meetings and Public 
Meetings 

Public meetings are held in public areas to discuss service changes or development.  

  2.1.5.1 Human Resources Hiring Events 

· In recent years, GCRTA has created a partnership with El 
Barrio – Workforce Development Center which is part of the 
Centers for Family and Children. Two or three times a year, 
GCRTA has an event at their facility to meet with clients and 
potential job applicants. These events give GCRTA the 
opportunity to speak to the Hispanic community about general 
areas of interest and provide information about employment 
opportunities. El Barrio provides training to their clients that 
are interested in becoming a Bus Operator at GCRTA, and 
how to obtain the temporary Commercial Driver’s License 
(CDL) to begin the recruitment process at GCRTA.  

· GCRTA also has a partnership with the Cleveland Spanish 
American Committee, where our Human Resources 
department meets with organization representatives to present 
on GCRTA’s service and open job opportunities.  

·  

  2.1.5.2 Human Resources - CMSD Outreach 

· The Cleveland Metropolitan School District (CMSD) submitted 
a resolution agreement in November 2013 to the U.S. 
Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights that in part 
provided for CMSD to provide LEP students and their parents 
with information in a language they could understand on how 
to use public transportation to get to and from school, 
beginning in the 2014-2015 school year. CMSD worked with 
GCRTA to provide students with this training, and over time 
the program has grown. The students’ grade levels range from 
K-12representing a variety of languages. GCRTA Outreach 
Sessions have been held at the following CMSD schools: 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 27 
 

• Buhrer Dual Language Academy 
• Clark 
• Joseph M. Gallagher 
• Luis Munoz Marin 
• Scranton 
• Thomas Jefferson International Newcomers Academy 
• James Ford Rhodes 
• Lincoln-West 
• Max S. Hayes 

 
· GCRTA literature was translated by CMSD Staff and was 

provided to students and parents. The literature and 
presentation focused on the following: 
 Bus & Rail Safe Riding Tips (Grade Crossing, 

Emergency Phone Use) 
 Safe Place Program 
 Transit Police App (Safe Watch) 
 How to use your fare card/planning your trip 
 Use Transit App/EZ Fare 
 What to expect your first time 

2.1.6  Office of Small Business 

The Office of Small Business participates in the Northeast Ohio Hispanic 
Chamber of Commerce (NEOHCC) Construction Opportunity Fair. This is an 
annual event which provides GCRTA an opportunity to highlight contracting 
opportunities. Translation services for required forms and documents are 
provided. 

2.2 Other Local Government Agency Experiences 

GCRTA monitors and learns from the City of Cleveland, Cuyahoga County, and CMSD 
experiences with LEP individuals. GCRTA will also reach out to the local planning 
departments in communities that have a cluster of LEP individuals for assistance on how 
to best communicate information to specific populations.  

GCRTA participates in regional transit collaboration through the local metropolitan 
planning organization called NOACA (Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency). 
This includes participation in Transit Council, which discusses topics related to transit 
services and funding. It is an opportunity to share best practices related to customer 
service and needs.  

 

3.0 FACTOR 3 – THE NATURE AND IMPORTANCE OF PROGRAMS, 
ACTIVITIES, OR SERVICES PROVIDED BY GCRTA TO THE LEP 
POPULATION  

GCRTA provides a wide array of transportation services from the regular fixed route 
system to Paratransit services. Making these services accessible to LEP persons 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 28 
 

provides transportation choice and is a vital service for individuals without access to 
personal vehicles.  

In addition to transit services, GCRTA provides service-related information at public 
meetings and board meetings, and LEP individuals interact with and are able to access 
transit police services and hiring events. 

3.1 Consequences of Language Barriers  

The critical services can be divided into three groupings for potential consequences: 
basic service usage; emergency procedures; and public hearings.  

3.1.1 Basic Service Usage 

LEP individuals could potentially not receive transportation services. It could be an 
inconvenience to LEP individuals until appropriate translation or assistance is 
provided. GCRTA provides Paratransit services, which serves customers that are 
unable to utilize typical fixed route service. Paratransit customers are ADA-certified 
residents, of which some may be LEP customers.  

3.1.2 Emergency Procedures 

For emergency procedures, it is feasible that there may be an occurrence where an 
LEP individual would need to evacuate a GCRTA vehicle or building for safety 
purposes or contact Transit Police for safety reasons. Recent updates to the safety 
evacuation signage on buses and trains provide most information pictorially, with 
limited usage of written instructions. Within GCRTA facilities, universal exit signage 
is utilized to direct all patrons out of the facility or to an area of safe refuge.   

3.1.3 Public Hearings 

LEP individuals may have the inability to understand and provide comment on 
proposed service changes or other issues. This may result in an unintentional under-
representation of the impact to the greatest number of LEP persons within the limits 
of GCRTA’s service area. GCRTA analyzes site locations for public hearings and 
may provide translation services where needed.  

The MetroHealth Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project is located in an area of high 
Spanish-speaking population; thus, GCRTA community meetings in those 
neighborhoods have historically provided materials in both Spanish and English and 
included Spanish interpreters on-site. 

 

4.0 FACTOR 4 -THE RESOURCES AVAILABLE TO GCRTA AND OVERALL 
COST TO PROVIDE LEP ASSISTANCE 

4.1 Inventory of GCRTA Resources 

GCRTA reviewed its available resources and the costs for providing LEP assistance, 
including verbal interpreter services and written translation. 

4.1.1 Language Assistance 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 29 
 

Language assistance can include interpretation, which means oral or spoken transfer 
of a message from one language into another language, and/or translation, which 
means the written transfer of a message from one language into another language. 

How GCRTA staff may identify an LEP person who needs language assistance: 

• GCRTA plans to post notice of LEP Plan and the availability of interpretation 
or translation services free of charge in languages LEP persons would 
understand. This notice is currently posted for Spanish language assistance. 

• When GCRTA sponsors an informational meeting or event, a staff person 
may greet participants as they arrive. By informally engaging participants in 
conversation, it is possible to gauge each attendee’s ability to speak and 
understand English. Although interpreter services may not be able to be 
provided at the event, it will help identify the need for interpreter services at 
future events. 

4.1.2 Current Language Assistance Measures 

GCRTA staff take reasonable steps to provide the opportunity for meaningful access 
to LEP clients who have difficulty communicating English. 

The following resources will be available to accommodate LEP persons: 

• Written language translation services are available and will be provided within 
a reasonable time period.  

• Language interpretation will be accessed for all other languages through a 
telephone interpretation service. Although GCRTA’s previous resource for 
providing these services is no longer available, GCRTA is researching and 
obtaining new resources to be able to provide needed telephone interpreter 
services. 

• Language translation into Spanish, Chinese, Russian, and Arabic is available 
for text on much of GCRTA’s website. GCRTA will be seeking to increase the 
number of available languages and the website content available for 
translation. 

  
• 25Connects (funded by the FTA’s Transit-Oriented Development Pilot 

Program, a strategic study to break down barriers along Cleveland’s West 
25th Street corridor to build transit-oriented development as well as a 
guidebook for future bus rapid transit (BRT) implementation)published 
materials in English and Spanish and hosted all meetings bi-lingually. The 
resulting MetroHealth BRT Project also included Spanish language 
interpreter and translation services at Community Meetings. 

  
• GCRTA has all its vital documents translated into the Spanish language. 

 

4.1.3 Printed Materials 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 30 
 

GCRTA currently has language translation available in four languages for much of its 
website content. Given Spanish is the most commonly spoken language in GCRTA’s 
service area other than English, GCRTA provides translations of its vital documents 
in Spanish online. Those Vital Documents include: 
  

• Complaint Form 
• Complaint Process 
• Notice of Your Rights -Title VI Signage 
• Paratransit Application 
• Paratransit Booklet 

  
Concurrent with Title VI regulations, Title VI information and documentation is 
available at www.rideRTA.com and upon request. Any person who believes he or 
she has been aggrieved by an unlawful discriminatory practice under Title VI may file 
a complaint with GCRTA. Each transit vehicle displays signage (in both English and 
Spanish), informing passengers of their rights protected by Title VI. 

4.1.4 Monitoring 

The LEP Plan will be reviewed and updated periodically, or when higher 
concentrations of LEP individuals are present in the GCRTA service area. Updates 
will include the following: 

• Current LEP population in the service area 

• Changes in need for translation services 

• Language assistance programs that have been effective and sufficient 

• GCRTA financial resources available to fund language assistance resources 
needed 

• GCRTA compliance with the goals of this LEP Plan 

• Complaints received concerning LEP customers 

 
4.2 Recent LEP Service Implementations  

The following services identified have been implemented to assist the LEP 
population:  

• Fixed Route Bus/Rail Schedules 

• With the re-issuance of new schedules for each route, information is now 
translated in Spanish to direct LEP persons to call the Customer Service 
Center for additional help.  

• Similar information directing Spanish-speaking LEP persons to call the 
Customer Service Center is now placed on the GCRTA website. 

• Emergency Evacuation Procedures 

http://www.riderta.com/


 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 31 
 

• Updating all emergency evacuation instructions on GCRTA buses and trains 
with universal graphic signage. Text has been augmented or replaced with 
fully pictorial versions. 

• Currently use the universal “EXIT” signs and no further action is required. 

• GCRTA has continued to pursue hiring bilingual speakers, with a focus on 
language group(s) identified through continued outreach as potentially having 
a significant LEP population using transit.  

 

Public Participation Plan 

 
It is the policy of GCRTA to encourage public involvement and participation in the 
decision-making process regarding issues impacting GCRTA’s customers, including but 
not limited to service reductions and fare modifications (Resolution No. 1995-25). 
GCRTA has established a public involvement process to ensure minority and LEP 
populations are engaged through public outreach and involvement activities. 

The GCRTA Board of Trustees (Board) meets monthly. All meetings of the Board, 
except executive sessions held for purposes required or permitted by law, are open to 
the public and no person is excluded from any meeting. Time is provided for the public to 
comment on any issue at each meeting. GCRTA maintains a list of persons and 
organizations that wish to receive information from GCRTA.   

Summary of Outreach Activities Since Last Title VI Submission 

 
GCRTA solicits comments and customer feedback from interested parties related to 
major decisions impacting services and fares. Public comments and participation are 
solicited in several ways, including: 

• Public Hearings and/or Community Meetings 

• Letters written to GCRTA 

• Comments received via the GCRTA website 

• Social media: Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn 

• GCRTA’s Community Advisory Committee 

• Direct communications with elected officials and community leaders 

• Emails to GCRTA’s public comment mailbox 

 
Public Meetings 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 32 
 

Public meetings are a critical element of GCRTA’s community involvement program. 
Meetings are held with the primary objective of sharing information related to specific 
changes, as well as soliciting feedback from interested parties. 

Typically, meetings are held in affected neighborhoods, allowing those audiences that 
may be impacted by proposed changes easy access to provide comment. Locations are 
easily accessible by public transportation and all facilities are ADA compliant. 

Notification of meetings are posted at least two weeks in advance in media sources most 
consumed by individuals residing in affected service areas, such as the Cleveland Plain 
Dealer, and the Call and Post (weekly publication serving Northeast Ohio’s African 
American community). Scheduled meetings are also promoted on/in GCRTA’s customer 
communications (such as social media posts, emails, or newsletters as applicable), 
signage posted on revenue vehicles, audio announcements are aired in passenger 
facilities, and through postings in various media outlets. 

The format of the meeting/hearing varies based on the audience and magnitude of the 
proposed change. In most cases, an “open-house” type meeting is held that spans 
several hours and is typically conducted in communities that may potentially be impacted 
by the proposed changes. The meeting begins with GCRTA staff providing a detailed 
description of the changes proposed, followed by a period of open comment from 
meeting attendees. Throughout the meeting, GCRTA staff are present to respond 
directly to customer inquiries and questions. 

To better address the needs of those individuals with language barriers, Spanish-
speaking staff members are present to provide interpreter services. Additionally, a court 
reporter is present to capture an accurate transcript of comments provided by attendees. 
These comments are later reviewed and interpreted by GCRTA’s Service Planning staff 
and incorporated into the final recommendations prepared for GCRTA management’s 
consideration. 

 
Consideration of Public Comment and Feedback 

All comments received regarding proposed changes are reviewed and summarized by 
GCRTA staff including Marketing, Service Management, Office of Management & 
Budget, and Finance. After a general review is completed, GCRTA staff from affected 
departments share information received from the public, along with revised 
recommendations to GCRTA’s General Manager/CEO, Deputy General Manager of 
Operations, and other key executive staff for final determination. The final 
recommendations take into full consideration comments received through the public 
involvement process. GCRTA staff is committed to faithfully representing all comments 
received, positive as well as negative, when presenting the results. Recommendations 
endorsed by the Executive Management team are presented to GCRTA’s Board for final 
action or acceptance. 

 
Responsibilities 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 33 
 

The Service Management Department and the Office of Management & Budget are 
responsible for the following: 

• Develop proposals for consideration related to service modifications and fare 
increases 

• Develop and implement the community involvement plan to solicit customer 
comments 

• Review and summarize the comments 

• Revise recommendations based on public comment and input 

• Package final recommendations for approval by the Board of Trustees 

The Marketing department is responsible for the following: 

• Maintain all documentation related to the public participation process 

• Placement of legal notices promoting public hearings at least two weeks prior to 
scheduled events.  

• Development of other communication strategies to promote public meetings 
(signs, media releases, flyers) 

• Compile and maintain the public comment file for all comments received through 
all sources (meetings, emails, letters) 

• Coordinate use of digital media for both posting of information and collecting 
customer comments 

• Determine the best format for the public meeting 

• Make all arrangements for public meetings, including but not limited to, securing 
the meeting space, scheduling hearing and/or language interpreters and court 
reporters, and development and production of all collateral materials for the 
meeting 

• Communicate with elected officials and community leaders in affected areas prior 
to meetings to review proposals and solicit comment 

 
Title VI Compliance for Subrecipients 

At this time, GCRTA has no subrecipients.  

 
Participation in Non-Elected Committees and Councils  

The Community Advisory Committee (CAC) is comprised of community representatives 
that reflect GCRTA’s customer base. The CAC is a transit-related group of volunteers 
that meet quarterly to discuss relevant issues about the operations of GCRTA.  The CAC 
is currently comprised of eleven (11) members and may have up to a maximum of fifteen 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 34 
 

(15) members. CAC members work to increase citizens’ participation in community 
activities and involve the public in transit-related decision-making.  

 

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

MEMBER COMPOSITION: RACE 

African American 2 

White 8 

Asian 1 

Total Members 11 

 

Determination of Site or Location of Facilities 

In accordance with the FTA Circular 4702.1B, GCRTA is required to conduct a Title VI 
Equity Analysis of new facilities to ensure compliance with Title VI.  

Attachment B contains the full Equity Analysis Report for 15583 Brookpark Rd. The 
report confirms that the relocation of the Rail Maintenance Facility to 15583 Brookpark 
Rd will not have any disparate impacts on groups protected by Title VI.  

 

Title VI Program Board Meeting Policy Decision Documentation 

In accordance with the FTA Circular 4702.1B, the Title VI Update must include a copy of 
the Board meeting minutes, resolutions, and other appropriate documentation showing 
the Board reviewed and approved the Title VI Plan. This information is provided in 
Chapter 4: ATTACHMENTS and consists of:  

• Title VI Board Presentation  
• Resolution No. 2026- ; Approving the 2026 Title VI Program Update 
• Staff Summary & Comments: Approving the 2026 Title VI Program Update 
• Board Meeting Minutes 

Chapter 3: FIXED ROUTE TRANSIT PROVIDER REQUIREMENTS 

This section contains Title VI Program components required by FTA Circular 4702.1B for 
fixed route transit providers. 

Based on the size of GCRTA’s service area and fixed route vehicle fleet, GCRTA is 
required to set system-wide standards and policies for each specific fixed route mode of 
service GCRTA provides, addressing how service is distributed across the transit system 
and ensuring that the manner of the distribution affords users access to these assets. 
This includes developing quantitative standards for all fixed route modes of operation for 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 35 
 

the following indicators for each mode: vehicle load; vehicle headway; on-time 
performance; and service availability. GCRTA is also required to adopt system-wide 
service policies to ensure service design and operations practices do not result in 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin. This includes developing a 
policy for the following service indicators for each mode: distribution of transit amenities; 
and vehicle assignment.  

GCRTA is also required to collect and analyze racial and ethnic data including 
demographic and service profile maps and charts and demographic ridership and travel 
patterns. GCRTA must also monitor the performance of its transit system relative to the 
system-wide service standards and policies through a comparison of samples of minority 
and non-minority routes from all modes of service provided. 

Finally, GCRTA is required to conduct service and fare equity analyses prior to 
implementing service and/or fare changes to determine whether the planned changes 
will discriminate on the basis of race, color, or national origin. 

Demographic and Service Profile Maps and Charts 

See the following files (incorporated herein): 
1. Map of Interstate Highways, Arterials, and Major Streets 
2. Map of Cuyahoga County Census Tracts 
3. Map of 2024 GCRTA Levels of Service 
4. Map of Percent Minority Population by Census Tract 
5. Map of Low-Income Population by Census Tract 
6. Map of Low-Income & Below Poverty population by Census Tract 
7. Map of Minority, Below Poverty, and Low-Income Census  
8. Map of GCRTA Service Availability 
9. Map of GCRTA Transit Facilities 
10. Map of Distribution of Transit Amenities (Shelter Locations) 
11. Map of Location of Fare Media Distribution by Census Tract 
12. Map of Service Quality Supervisory Work Zones 
13. Table identifying each tract with its minority/non-minority and low-

income/non-low-income composition.  
 

Requirement to Set Service Standards and Policies 

The Title VI Standards and Policies mentioned above are directly related to Title VI.  
Specific standards and policies for Vehicle Load, Vehicle Headway (Service Frequency), 
Vehicle Assignment, On Time Performance, and Transit Amenities can be found in the 
attached documentation. 

 Assessment of Compliance 

 
(a) Establish Procedures: After each decennial census, GCRTA analyzes census 

tracts in its service area (Cuyahoga County).  GCRTA designates a tract as 
“MINLOW” if it meets either or both of the following criteria: 

• The minority population percentage of the tract exceeds that of the 
county. 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 36 
 

• The low-income population percentage of the tract exceeds that of the 
county. 

 
A tract that meets neither of the above criteria is designated “NONMINLOW” 

(b) Annually, GCRTA staff classify routes into two categories according to areas 
served. GCRTA classifies a route as MINLOW if at least 1/3 of the route is 
located in a MINLOW census tract; otherwise, the route is classified as 
NONMINLOW. GCRTA staff compares the number of vehicle trips, vehicle 
miles, and vehicle hours by route category to ensure that minority and/or low-
income areas receive their fair share of service. 
 

(c) Evaluate system-wide service changes: Any time GCRTA plans a major 
system-wide service change, GCRTA will use the procedure in IV.3.7 (4) (a) 
above to determine whether the plan is discriminatory. If so, GCRTA will not 
implement the plan. A major service change is one that increases or 
decreases total annual vehicle revenue miles by at least ten (10) percent. 

 
(d) Conduct compliance assessments: Every three (3) years GCRTA will assess 

its service for Title VI compliance in a manner similar to that presented in this 
document. 

 
(e) Take action on findings: GCRTA will take action on any findings made by 

FTA or by GCRTA’s Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and Organizational 
Culture. 

 
Other Areas of Title VI Considerations 

 
IV.5.4. (a) Changes in Service Features 

 
GCRTA’s service planning document is the Service Management Plan 
(SMP), which is prepared annually. The 2025 Service Management Plan is 
attached.  It calls for no major service changes in 2025.  

 
This Title VI Monitoring Report was performed on the GCRTA service that 
was in operation in the second half of the year in 2024. All attached maps 
and documents reflect the network that was in operation as of December 31, 
2024. 

    
IV.4.9. (b) Information Dissemination 

 
GCRTA employs multiple communication methods to inform minority, low-
income, and LEP communities of proposed service changes. These 
methods include both traditional and digital channels to ensure that 
information is broadly accessible throughout the service area. 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 37 
 

Methods used include: 
 
• Public notices published in local newspapers, including those with 

significant minority community readership. 
• General outreach communications—including emails, letters, and other 

notifications—distributed to community development organizations, 
educational institutions, public officials, senior centers, faith-based 
organizations, libraries, and other community groups. 

• Printed notices—including service change summaries, meeting and 
hearing information, and other posted passenger communications—
placed on GCRTA buses, trains, transit centers, and stations. 

• Press releases issued to print, broadcast, and electronic media outlets. 
• Targeted outreach with special attention to affected service areas. 

Digital communication methods include announcements posted on GCRTA’s 
official social media channels, updates to GCRTA’s website with service 
change materials, and email notifications to subscribed riders and community 
partners. 

Service change information is also mailed to local community service 
organizations and governmental offices. For major service changes, public 
hearings are held and informational community meetings are scheduled to 
support meaningful public engagement. 

Additional details on outreach to LEP individuals are provided in the LEP 
Communication Plan above. 

 
Meaningful Access to LEP Persons 

Please reference the Meaningful Access to LEP Persons – Language 
Assistance Plan section above in Chapter 2 for more detailed information. 
Monitoring Procedures for Transit Providers 

Requirement for Transit Providers 

The Service Planning Section operates under Title VI considerations as basic 
criteria of service development. Care is given to ensure Title VI compliance 
when service changes are made. The Senior Manager of OEO, ADA, and 
Organizational Culture is notified in advance of service change proposals that 
require public involvement pursuant to GCRTA’s Service Policy. 

Level of Service Methodology 

• Vehicle Load 

Overloads are investigated and corrected on a case-by-case basis. 
Reviewing 2024 complaints, GCRTA does not have a persistent or chronic 
overload problem. Vehicle load issues are reported to GCRTA Management 
via drivers, supervisors, service monitors, scheduling committee members 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 38 
 

and customers through website, phone calls, email, written reports, and walk-
in reports. The following table summarizes customer complaints related to 
overcrowding for second half of 2024. 

Customer Complaints regarding Overcrowding in second half of 2024 

Overcrowding 

  Value 

All complaints, 7/1/2024 - 12/31/2024 2,436 

Complaints excluding Web Spam / Advertising 2,427 

Overcrowded Vehicle complaints 4 

Overcrowded Vehicle complaint percentage 0.16% 

System total ridership, 7/1/2024 - 12/31/2024 12,457,082 

One Overcrowded Vehicle complaint for every ____ rides 3,114,270 

Overcrowded Vehicle complaints per 100,000 rides 0.03 

 

Items 
 

Overcrowding 4 

Total Complaints 2,427 

Overcrowding Complaints as a 
Percentage of Total Complaints 

0.16% 

Ridership 12,457,082 

One Overcrowding complaint for 
every ___ rides 3,114,270 

 

On average GCRTA receives one overcrowding complaint for every 3,114,270 rides. 

GCRTA staff has verified the absence of an overcrowding problem by 
reviewing the maximum passenger load on each trip sampled for the National 
Transit Database.  For each route, the average of the observed maximum 
passenger loads was calculated.  Each route was classified as either 
MINLOW or NONMINLOW as described in Section IV.3.7.b.  The average 
maximum load of all routes in the MINLOW category and NONMINLOW 
category were averaged. The averages are similar, and both averages are 
less than ten (10) passengers.  These low averages are consistent with the 
absence of an overcrowding problem on MINLOW routes. 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 39 
 

Maximum Load Analysis 

  Value 

MINLOW Average Max Load 8.98 

NONMINLOW Average Max Load 9.18 

 

• Vehicle Assignment 

As stated in GCRTA’s Service Code, newer buses have lower per-mile 
maintenance costs and shall therefore be assigned to higher mileage blocks. 
Care shall be taken to maintain compliance with Title VI regulations. 
Coincidently, high mileage blocks serve minority and low-income areas. 

However, to measure whether GCRTA vehicle assignments comply with Title 
VI, GCRTA reviewed vehicle assignments for all days in the second half of 
2024.  

The information was extracted from the OnRoute CAD/AVL system which 
records which vehicles operate on which routes. As described in Section 
IV.3.7.b, all routes were categorized as either MINLOW or NONMINLOW.  As 
shown in the table, buses serving MINLOW routes and those serving 
NONMINLOW routes are nearly the same age.  

Vehicle Assignment 

Route Category Average Age 

MINLOW 7.5 

NONMINLOW 6.5 

 

For more detail, see the attached “GCRTA Title VI Route Analysis” file. 

• Vehicle Headway 

All routes in the minority and low-income service area comply with GCRTA’s 
headway policy. All routes are reviewed and investigated further in response 
to customer complaints, suggestions, and comments. 

Each route was classified as either MINLOW or NONMINLOW as described 
in Section IV.3.7.b.  An average headway for each category was calculated.  
As indicated in the following table, MINLOW routes have shorter (i.e. better) 
average headways than NONMINLOW routes in the midday. Peak headways 
are similar for MINLOW and NONMINLOW routes. 

Average Vehicle Headways 

Route   Headways 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 40 
 

Category Peak Midday 

MINLOW 30.9 30.9 

NONMINLOW 30 45 

Schedules effective second half of 2024 (HASTUS Booking 2406) 

For more detail, see the attached ““GCRTA Title VI Route Analysis” file. 

• On-Time Performance 

GCRTA on-time performance metrics are outlined in the Service Code. As 
described in Section IV.3.7.b, all routes were categorized as either MINLOW 
or NONMINLOW.  As shown in the table below, on-time performance on 
MINLOW routes averages better than NONMINLOW routes, and GCRTA as 
a whole. 

2024 Second Half On-time Performance 

Route   
Category 

Percent  
On-time 

MINLOW 84.17% 
NONMINLOW 81.1% 
All GCRTA 83.75% 

 

For more detail, see the attached ““GCRTA Title VI Route Analysis” file. 

• Distribution of Transit Amenities 

See the attached “Transit Amenities” map file.  Shelter concentration is higher 
in MINLOW areas than NONMINLOW areas. 

• Service Availability 

See the attached “Service Availability” map file.  It shows a ¾ mile radius 
around each transit stop.  As shown, an insignificant fraction of MINLOW 
areas are not within ¾ mile of a stop, while a significant fraction of 
NONMINLOW areas are more than ¾ mile from a stop.   

• Service Quality Supervisory Work Zones 

See the attached “Supervisory Work Zones” map file. The work zones show 
no inequality in design of the zones. 

Service and Fare Equity Analysis 

Service and Fare Equity Analysis 
 

Since the last Title VI Program submission, GCRTA has made no major service changes 
and therefore has not performed a service equity analysis.  GCRTA has completed two 
fare equity analyses, as follows: 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 41 
 

  
A fare equity analysis was performed for a fare structure change that was ultimately 
presented to the Board of Trustees as Resolution 2025-042, adopted March 18, 2025.  
The fare structure change comprised these elements: 
 
(4) Fare capping:  a policy to allow customers to enjoy the discounts of unlimited-use 

passes without paying the full cost of a pass in advance and without incurring losses 
when their usage of the transit system falls below the break-even level of a pass. 

(4) Account-based ticketing:  a system that enables fare capping by counting each 
customer’s trips within a given time period to determine when subsequent trips made 
by that customer during that time period should be fare-free. 

(4) Elimination of fare surcharges:  to speed up implementation of fare capping, 
discontinue fare surcharges that apply to a minuscule percentage of annual rides 
and that generate an insignificant amount of annual revenue. 

(4) Open payment:  provides an additional (optional) method of paying fares that using a 
“token” not issued by RTA, such as a customer’s own credit card or phone.  Some 
customers may prefer to use this method despite its higher price.  Open payment is 
included in this analysis, but its adoption may be deferred to a later date. 

The analysis concluded that “the proposal will neither create a disparate impact on 
minority customers nor impose a disproportionate burden on low-income customers.  On 
the contrary, minority customers and low-income customers will be the primary 
beneficiaries of the proposed fare structure change.” 
  
More recently, the authority staff began to consider asking the Board of Trustees to 
authorize the CEO/General Manager to implement a convenience fee for users of mobile 
ticketing.  Though such a fee may or may not require a fare equity analysis, the staff 
conducted a fare equity analysis to be on the safe side.  The analysis concluded that 
“the proposal will neither create a disparate impact on minority customers nor impose a 
disproportionate burden on low-income customers.” 
 

 

  



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 42 
 

Attachments for Chapter 3 

 
A.  Maps 

1. Map of Interstate Highways, Arterials, and Major Streets 
2. Map of Cuyahoga County Census Tracts 
3. GCRTA Levels of Service as of December 30, 2024 
4. Map of Percent Minority Population by Census Tract 
5. Map of Low-Income Population by Census Tract 
6. Map of Below Poverty & Low-Income population by Census Tract 
7. Map of Minority, Below Poverty, and Low-Income Census  
8. Map of GCRTA Service Availability 
9. Map of GCRTA Transit Facilities 
10. Map of Distribution of Transit Amenities (Shelter Locations) 
11. Map of Location of Fare Media Distribution by Census Tract 
12. Map of Service Quality Supervisory Work Zones 

 
 
B. Documents 

1. GCRTA Services code (December 2018) 
2. 2025 Service Management Plan (2025 SMP) 
3. Table Identifying Each Tract with its Minority/Non-Minority and Low-

Income/Non-Low-Income Composition (GCRTA Tracts ACS 2023) 
4. GCRTA Title VI Route Analysis 

 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 43 
 

 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 44 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 45 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 46 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 47 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 48 
 

  



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 49 
 

 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 50 
 

 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 51 
 



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 52 
 

  



 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 53 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 54 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 55 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 56 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 57 
 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 58 
 

 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 59 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 60 
 

 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 61 
 

 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 62 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 63 
 

 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 64 
 

 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 65 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 66 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 67 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 68 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 69 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 70 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 71 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 72 
 

 
  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 73 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 74 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 75 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 76 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 77 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 78 
 

 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 79 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 80 
 

 

 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 81 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 82 
 

 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 83 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 84 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 85 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 86 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 87 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 88 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 89 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 90 
 

 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 91 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 92 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 93 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 94 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 95 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 96 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 97 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 98 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 99 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 100 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 101 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 102 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 103 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 104 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 105 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 106 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 107 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 108 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 109 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 110 
 

 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 111 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 112 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 113 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 114 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 115 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 116 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 117 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 118 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 119 
 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 120 
 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 121 
 

  



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 122 
 

Chapter 4: TITLE VI PROGRAM ATTACHMENTS 

 

Attachment A: Notice to the Public in English and Spanish – Title VI Signage 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 123 
 

Attachment B: Determination of Site or Location of Facilities 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 124 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 125 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 126 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 127 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 128 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 129 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 130 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 131 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 132 
 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 133 
 

 



 
 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 134 
 

Attachment C: The Title VI Board Presentation 

 

The Board Presentation will be added to the package following presentation and approval.   



 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 135 
 

Attachment D: GCRTA Board Resolution 2026 

  



 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 136 
 

Attachment E: Staff Summary & Comments 

  



 
 

GCRTA 2026 Title VI Program Update Page 137 
 

Attachment F: Board Meeting Minutes 

The Board minutes will be added to this package at the conclusion of the Board Meeting wherein 
this Title VI filing is approved for submission to the Federal Transit Administration.  

 



CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE %VARIANCE BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE %VARIANCE

PASSENGER FARES:
CASH FARES 777,600$             619,207$             (158,393)$            (20.37%) 9,331,200$          8,491,566$          (839,634)$            -9.00%
PASS/TICKET SALES 619,733               784,950               165,216               26.66% 7,436,800            7,270,782            (166,018)              -2.23%
STUDENT FARECARDS 265,067               16,456                  (248,611)              (93.79%)                 3,180,800            2,047,524            (1,133,276)           -35.63%
U-PASS 336,267               15,250                  (321,017)              (95.46%)                 4,035,200            4,962,635            927,435               22.98%
MOBILE TICKETING 668,000               678,954               10,954                  1.64%                    8,016,000            9,056,517            1,040,517            12.98%

TOTAL PASSENGER FARES 2,666,667            2,114,816            (551,851)              (20.69%)                32,000,000          31,829,024          (170,976)              -0.53%
SALES AND USE TAX REVENUE:

SALES & USE TAX 22,291,667          27,055,348          4,763,681            21.37%                  267,500,000        274,672,465        7,172,465            2.68%
TOTAL OPERATING SUBSIDIES 22,291,667          27,055,348          4,763,681            21.37%                  267,500,000       274,672,465       7,172,465            2.68%

OTHER REVENUE:
ADVERTISING/CONCESSIONS/COMMISSIONS 171,833               116,893               (54,940)                (31.97%) 2,062,000            1,271,674            (790,326)              -38.33%
NAMING RIGHTS LESS COMMISSIONS 158,150               -                        (158,150)                                  -         485,300               311,473               (173,827)              -35.82%
RENTAL INCOME 26,411                  10,442                  (15,969)                (60.46%)                 316,932               219,404               (97,528)                -30.77%
INTEREST INCOME 83,333                  84,880                  1,547                    1.86%                    1,000,000            1,055,117            55,117                  5.51%
OTHER 98,589                  24,401                  (74,188)                (75.25%)                 1,183,068            300,806               (882,262)              -74.57%

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 538,316               236,616               (301,700)              (165.83%)              5,047,300            3,158,474            (1,888,826)          -37.42%
REIMBURSEMENTS AND OTHER SOURCES OF CASH:

FUEL/CNG/PROPANE TAX REFUNDS 333,333               29,546                  (303,787)              (91.14%)                 4,000,000            730,881               (3,269,119)           -81.73%
GRANT REIMBURSEMENT (FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL MATCH) -                        1,515,861            1,515,861                                -         -                        3,148,835            3,148,835                                -
PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE (FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL MATCH) -                        -                        -                                            -         1,000,000            8,728,058            7,728,058            772.81%
FEDERAL OPERATING ASSISTANCE -                        -                        -                                            -         -                        -                        -                                            -
MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS -                        43,454                  43,454                                      -         -                        962,337               962,337                                   -

TOTAL REIMBURSEMENTS AND OTHER SOURCES OF CASH 333,333               1,588,861            1,255,528            376.66%                5,000,000            13,570,111          8,570,111            171.40%

TRANSFERS FROM:
REVENUE STABILIZATION FUND 15,000,000          10,000,000          (5,000,000)           (33.33%)                 50,500,000          45,000,000          (5,500,000)           -10.89%
RESERVE FUND -                        -                        -                                            -         4,500,000            -                        (4,500,000)                               -

TOTAL CASH RECEIVED - GENERAL FUND 40,829,983$       40,995,641$       165,658$             0.41%                    364,547,300$     368,230,074$     3,682,774$          1.01%

THE GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
REPORT OF CASH RECEIVED COMPARED TO BUDGET - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2025

Revenue Report Page 1 of 2



PASSENGER FARES:
CASH FARES
PASS/TICKET SALES
STUDENT FARECARDS
U-PASS
MOBILE TICKETING

TOTAL PASSENGER FARES
SALES AND USE TAX REVENUE:

SALES & USE TAX
TOTAL OPERATING SUBSIDIES

OTHER REVENUE:
ADVERTISING/CONCESSIONS/COMMISSIONS
NAMING RIGHTS LESS COMMISSIONS
RENTAL INCOME
INTEREST INCOME 
OTHER

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE
REIMBURSEMENTS AND OTHER SOURCES OF CASH:

FUEL/CNG/PROPANE TAX REFUNDS
GRANT REIMBURSEMENT (FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL MATCH)
PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE (FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL MATCH)
FEDERAL OPERATING ASSISTANCE
MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS 

TOTAL REIMBURSEMENTS AND OTHER SOURCES OF CASH

TRANSFERS FROM:
REVENUE STABILIZATION FUND
RESERVE FUND

TOTAL CASH RECEIVED - GENERAL FUND

CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE
December December 2025

2025 2024 CHANGE 2025 2024 CHANGE %CHANGE % OF TOTAL

619,207$             750,443$               (131,236)$              8,491,566$          9,671,346$          (1,179,780)$          (12.20%)                 2.31%                    
784,950               682,910                 102,039                  7,270,782            7,794,402             (523,620)               (6.72%)                   1.97%                    

16,456                  32,559                   (16,103)                   2,047,524            3,072,624             (1,025,100)            (33.36%)                 0.56%                    
15,250                  200,000                 (184,750)                4,962,635            4,058,931             903,705                 22.26%                  1.35%                    

678,954               656,720                 22,234                    9,056,517            8,320,604             735,913                 8.84%                    2.46%                    
2,114,816            2,322,633             (207,816)                31,829,024          32,917,907          (1,088,883)            (3.31%)                   8.64%                    

27,055,348          25,660,287           1,395,061              274,672,465        264,667,706        10,004,760           3.78%                    74.59%                  
27,055,348          25,660,287           1,395,061              274,672,465       264,667,706        10,004,760           3.78%                    74.59%                  

116,893               107,129                 9,764                      1,271,674            1,312,416             (40,742)                  (3.10%)                   0.35%                    
-                        -                          -                          311,473               308,997                2,476                     0.80%                    0.08%                    

10,442                  11,208                   (767)                        219,404               251,452                (32,048)                  (12.75%)                 0.06%                    
84,880                  413,994                 (329,114)                1,055,117            1,972,742             (917,625)               (46.52%)                 0.29%                    
24,401                  13,368                   11,033                    300,806               254,537                46,269                   18.18%                  0.08%                    

236,616               545,700                 (309,084)                3,158,474            4,100,144            (941,670)               (22.97%)                0.86%                    

29,546                  467,910                 (438,364)                730,881               2,509,998             (1,779,117)            (70.88%)                 0.20%                    
1,515,861            764,512                 751,349                  3,148,835            1,668,816             1,480,019             88.69%                  0.86%                    

-                        -                          -                          8,728,058            7,076,840             1,651,218             23.33%                  2.37%                    
-                        -                          -                          -                        -                         -                                              - 0.00%                    

43,454                  236,493                 (193,039)                962,337               1,942,954             (980,617)               (50.47%)                 0.26%                    
1,588,861            1,468,914             119,947                 13,570,111          13,198,609          371,502                 2.81%                    3.69%                    

10,000,000          9,600,000             400,000                  45,000,000          30,000,000          15,000,000           50.00%                  12.22%                  
-                        1,644,837             (1,644,837)             -                        1,644,837             (1,644,837)                                - 0.00%                    

40,995,641$       41,242,371$         (246,730)$              368,230,074$     346,529,202$     21,700,872$         6.26%                    100.00%                

THE GREATER CLEVELAND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
REPORT OF CASH RECEIVED COMPARED TO PRIOR YEAR - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2025 AND DECEMBER 31, 2024

Revenue Report Page 2 of 2




















	ADPB1F7.tmp
	AGENDA
	Board Governance Committee Meeting
	Committee Members: Mayor Paul A. Koomar, Chair

	ADP74E7.tmp
	Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION
	What Is Title VI?
	Who Is Responsible for Ensuring Title VI Is Implemented?

	Chapter 2: THE GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
	Title VI Public Notice
	Title VI Complaint Procedures
	Title VI Complaint Form
	List of Transit-Related Title VI Investigations, Complaints, and Lawsuits
	Meaningful Access to LEP Persons - Language Assistance Plan
	Four Factor Analysis

	Public Participation Plan
	Summary of Outreach Activities Since Last Title VI Submission

	Title VI Compliance for Subrecipients
	Participation in Non-Elected Committees and Councils
	Determination of Site or Location of Facilities
	Title VI Program Board Meeting Policy Decision Documentation

	Chapter 3: FIXED ROUTE TRANSIT PROVIDER REQUIREMENTS
	Demographic and Service Profile Maps and Charts
	Requirement to Set Service Standards and Policies
	Assessment of Compliance
	Other Areas of Title VI Considerations
	Meaningful Access to LEP Persons
	Please reference the Meaningful Access to LEP Persons – Language Assistance Plan section above in Chapter 2 for more detailed information. Monitoring Procedures for Transit Providers
	Requirement for Transit Providers
	Level of Service Methodology
	 Vehicle Load
	 Vehicle Assignment
	 Vehicle Headway
	 On-Time Performance
	 Distribution of Transit Amenities
	 Service Availability
	 Service Quality Supervisory Work Zones


	Service and Fare Equity Analysis
	Attachments for Chapter 3

	Chapter 4: TITLE VI PROGRAM ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A: Notice to the Public in English and Spanish – Title VI Signage
	Attachment D: GCRTA Board Resolution 2026
	Attachment E: Staff Summary & Comments
	Attachment F: Board Meeting Minutes





